

Walden University ScholarWorks

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection

2023

Implementing Corporate Social Responsibility Strategies to Enhance the Profitability of Firms

Franklin Alexander De La Rosa Walden University

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations

Part of the Finance and Financial Management Commons

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection at ScholarWorks. It has been accepted for inclusion in Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies by an authorized administrator of ScholarWorks. For more information, please contact ScholarWorks@waldenu.edu.

Walden University

College of Management and Human Potential

This is to certify that the doctoral study by

Franklin A. De La Rosa

has been found to be complete and satisfactory in all respects, and that any and all revisions required by the review committee have been made.

Review Committee Dr. Carol-Anne Faint, Committee Chairperson, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty

Dr. Roger Mayer, Committee Member, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty

Dr. Jorge Gaytan, University Reviewer, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty

Chief Academic Officer and Provost Sue Subocz, Ph.D.

Walden University 2023

Abstract

Implementing Corporate Social Responsibility Strategies to Enhance the Profitability of

Firms

by

Franklin A. De La Rosa

MS, Argosy University, 2017 BS, City College of New York, 2015

Doctoral Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree of

Doctor of Business Administration

Walden University

June 2023

Abstract

Ineffective corporate social responsibility (CSR) strategies can negatively impact a company's competitive advantage. A lack of competitive advantage may lead a business leader to experience poor performance and lost profits. Grounded in the stakeholder theory, the purpose of this qualitative multiple case study was to explore strategies some commercial banking, loan, and savings association leaders used to ensure successful CSR programs to enhance profitability. Participants comprised four leaders in Puerto Rico who successfully established CSR strategies to improve organizational profitability. Data were collected from semistructured interviews and banking websites. Thematic analysis was used to analyze the data. Three themes emerged: engage communities in CSR activities, improve business practices, and strengthen organizational CSR. A key recommendation for CSR leaders is to engage the community through sports, art, music, educational, and environmental activities. The implications for positive social change include the potential to helping society with employment opportunities and an improved healthy natural environment.

Implementing Corporate Social Responsibility Strategies to Enhance the Profitability of

Firms

by

Franklin A. De La Rosa

MS, Argosy University, 2017

BS, City College of New York, 2015

Doctoral Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree of

Doctor of Business Administration

Walden University

June 2023

Dedication

I dedicate my doctorate degree to my wife, Lizangelis Chavez. She encouraged me through this doctoral journey, telling me "I believe in you, I know you have God and your skills to finish it." During this amazing journey, I faced some challenges. My grandparents died, and I loved them with all my heart. In those sad moments, my wife supported and helped me to stand up and finish what I had begun.

Acknowledgments

I want to give thanks to my God. My God has blessed me on this path and protected me from any diseases and accidents during my journey. I want to acknowledge my best professor and chair, Dr. Carol-Anne Faint.

Table of Contents

Section 1: Foundation of the Study1
Background of the Problem1
Problem Statement2
Purpose Statement2
Nature of the Study
Research Question4
Interview Questions4
Conceptual Framework5
Operational Definitions
Assumptions, Limitations, and Delimitations7
Assumptions7
Limitations7
Delimitations7
Significance of the Study
Contribution to Business Practice
Implications for Social Change
A Review of the Professional and Academic Literature
Stakeholder Theory 10
The Principles of Stakeholder Theory15
Stakeholder Theory Concerning Internal and External Stakeholders
Instrumental Stakeholder Approach

Descriptive Stakeholder Approach	
Normative Stakeholder Approach	21
Normative Approach to Value Creation	
Normative Approach through CSR	
The Historical Evolution of the Concept of CSR	
The Connection Between Stakeholder Theory and CSR	34
Profitability and CSR	35
Profitability and Stakeholders	44
Transition	48
Section 2: The Project	49
Purpose Statement	49
Role of the Researcher	49
Participants	53
Research Method and Design	56
Research Method	56
Research Design	57
Population and Sampling	58
Ethical Research	61
Data Collection Instruments	63
Data Collection Technique	65
Data Organization Technique	67
Data Analysisii	68

Reliability and Validity	70
Reliability	71
Validity	71
Transition and Summary	73
Section 3: Application to Professional Practice and Implications for Change	75
Introduction	75
Presentation of Findings	75
Table 1	76
Table 2	77
Theme 1: Engaging Communities in CSR Activities Improved	
Profitability	77
Theme 2: Improving Business Practices Increased Profitability	83
Theme 3: Strengthening Organizational CSR for Business Profitability	89
Application to Professional Practice	93
Implications for Social Change	94
Recommendations for Action	95
Recommendations for Further Research	97
Reflections	98
Conclusion	99
References	101
Appendix A: Interview Protocol	131

List of Tables

Table 1.	Themes	and	Substrategies.	 •••••	• • • • • • • • • • •	 	76
Table 2.	CSR Stra	ategi	es	 		 	77

Section 1: Foundation of the Study

Strategically guiding organizations to successfully meet stakeholder expectations helps corporate social responsibility (CSR) leaders obtain their financial ambition and societal and environmental goals (Zanfardini et al., 2015). Organizational leaders that fail to implement CSR initiatives may experience poor organizational performance and lost profitability (Yim et al., 2019). In this study, I explored strategies some commercial banking, loan, and savings association leaders use to implement successful CSR programs to improve organizational profitability.

Background of the Problem

Corporate leaders must demonstrate social responsibility to gain respect from their stakeholders (Overall, 2016). Stakeholders can interpret organizational leaders as unethical when leader actions do not align with the company mission and objectives (Overall, 2016). Stakeholders can see leaders acting unscrupulously when organizational leaders seek financial advantages through unethical practices (Overall, 2016). Overall (2016) stated that corporate leaders must understand and underscore the importance of stakeholder and organizational benefits resulting from ethical practices. Organizational leaders are more likely to practice CSR activities within a normative atmosphere in the workplace (Campbell, 2018). Leaders engaging in constant communication with the stakeholders are able to strategize effective CSR activities (Campbell, 2018). Effective CSR activities include contributing to the ecology and providing public health services, employment opportunities, education, scientific research, and invention for society (Pattnaik & Shukla, 2018).

Problem Statement

A lack of CSR strategies and programs negatively impacts business performance (Yim et al., 2019). Kumar and Kumar (2019) stated that there was a correlation between CSR and profitability by having a *P* value of 0.05 which was statistically significant. The general business problem was that leaders not engaging in a CSR program to provide support to the local community struggled to enhance profitability. The specific business problem was that some commercial banking, loan, and savings association leaders lacked strategies to implement a successful CSR program to improve profitability.

Purpose Statement

The purpose of this qualitative multiple case study was to explore strategies some commercial banking, loan, and savings association leaders use to implement a successful CSR program to improve profitability. The target population was four retail banking and loan and savings association leaders in Puerto Rico who had successfully implemented CSR programs to improve profitability. The implications for positive social change included benefiting community residents with increased employment opportunities and an improved healthy natural environment by using environmentally conscious distributors and suppliers that encourage energy efficiency and waste reduction.

Nature of the Study

The three research methods are qualitative, quantitative, and mixed-methods. I selected the qualitative method. The capacity to communicate sentiments, bits of knowledge, and ideas is known as reflexibility (Karagiozis, 2018). The qualitative researcher investigates professional experiences, perspectives, and additional evidence gained from knowledgeable participants (Karagiozis, 2018). Quantitative researchers conduct scientific research, which involves testing hypotheses (Zyphur & Pierides, 2020). The quantitative researcher explores statistical relationships between variables to explain a phenomenon (Johnson et al., 2019). The quantitative method was not appropriate for this study, as I did not investigate relationships or test hypotheses to answer my research question. Mixed-method researchers integrate qualitative and quantitative research methods in the same study (Johnson et al., 2019). The mixed-method approach was not appropriate, as the quantitative method part does not address my research question.

Although a single case study researcher focuses on one case or group, a multiple case study researcher expands the exploration to focus on various instances, perspectives, or practices that could lead to a more rigorous study (Duff, 2014). I chose the multiple case study design to investigate a phenomenon and explore events, groups, and people. Researchers use the phenomenological method to have an in-depth comprehension of the phenomena (Perryman et al., 2020). Researchers use the phenomenological design to understand the fundamental personal meanings of participants' lived experiences (Perryman et al., 2020). In this study, the phenomenological design was not appropriate

because I expanded the study beyond lived experiences of commercial banking, loan, and savings association leaders to include perspectives, opinions, and related documentation. A researcher uses the ethnographic design to explore the influence of unique cultural norms and values upon business decision making processes (Rodriguez & Hallas, 2020). The ethnographic design was not appropriate because I did not seek an explanation of business practice through a narrow lens of culture within a workplace. Therefore, I conducted a multiple case study design to explore CSR practices within the banking industry.

Research Question

What strategies do leaders in the commercial banking, loan, and savings association industry use to implement a successful CSR program to improve profitability?

Interview Questions

- 1. What strategies have you used to implement a successful CSR program to improve profitability?
- How did you address the challenges in implementing your strategies for a successful CSR program to improve profitability?
- 3. What modifications did you apply to any strategy to improve its effectiveness in stimulating innovation?
- 4. What were the key barriers to implementing your successful CSR program strategies to improve profitability?

- 5. How did you overcome the key barriers to implementing strategies to integrate innovation into your business practice?
- 6. How did you measure the effectiveness of your strategies for a successful CSR program to improve profitability?
- 7. How has your organization used its CSR program strategies to improve profitability?
- 8. What additional information would you like to add regarding the strategies used to implement a successful CSR program to improve profitability?

Conceptual Framework

The framework I used in this study is stakeholder theory, founded by Freeman (1984). Sulkowski et al. (2017) proposed that organizational leaders can benefit the natural environment, stakeholders, and the organization. The achievement of goals and corporate longevity relies upon stakeholders (Miles, 2017). Stakeholder theory key components are normative, instrumental, and descriptive (Hahn et al., 2018). Koehler and Raithel (2018) mentioned stakeholder groups include internal, external, and media stakeholders. Internal stakeholders include chiefs and workers, and external stakeholders are clients, investors, and the government (Koehler & Raithel, 2018). Rather than long-term profitability, CSR leaders can successfully expand short-term profitability (Yoon & Chung, 2018). Organizational leaders may target internal CSR stakeholders if leaders want to expand the short-term monetary benefit of the business (Yoon & Chung, 2018). Leaders can target external CSR activities for external stakeholders if leaders need to

expand the firm's market value (Yoon & Chung, 2018). External stakeholders were entities separate from the organization. Media stakeholders include journalists (Koehler & Raithel, 2018). One stakeholder group can fundamentally impact the response of other stakeholders (Koehler & Raithel, 2018). As organizational leaders experience a crisis and stakeholders need data, stakeholders depend on the media to provide that data (Koehler & Raithel, 2018). The stakeholder theory was appropriate to understand the implementation of successful CSR programs to improve profitability because the success of an organization was dependent upon stakeholder input and commitment to ensure success. Further, the relationship established with stakeholders enhanced business longevity, customer loyalty, and profitability.

Operational Definitions

Cash holding is cash available that business leaders have (Saleem et al., 2021). Corporate social responsibility (CSR) is resolving social issues, moral conduct, contributing in local areas, and corporate generosity refers to business leaders' practices (Haski-Leventhal et al., 2017).

Return on investment (ROI) is depending on existing deals or future requests, ROI is a presentation measure to gauge an item's productivity (Schoukroun-Barnes et al., 2019).

Assumptions, Limitations, and Delimitations

Assumptions

Assumptions are statements assumed to be true but not proven (Theofanidis & Fountouki, 2018). I had three assumptions in this study. The first assumption was that the chief sustainability officers in the banking, loan, and savings association industry provided the most detailed and accurate information to complete my research. My second assumption was that participants responded accurately to the interview questions. The third assumption was that the findings helped leaders apply strategies to implement a successful CSR program at their organization to increase profitability.

Limitations

A limitation is a weakness of a study that is beyond the control of the researcher (Theofanidis & Fountouki, 2018). I had two limitations in this study. First, while interviewees were instructed to provide honest responses, participants may not have been completely honest in answering questions. This may have led to inconclusive or incorrect results. Second, the findings of this study are not transferable to all organizations in all locations and are specific to some organizations.

Delimitations

Delimitation is the point at which the researcher intentionally sets a boundary for the research (Theofanidis & Fountouki, 2018). I had three delimitations in this study. First, participants had the experience and expertise in implementing successful CSR programs. The second delimitation was that participants were leaders in the commercial banking, loan, and savings association industry for more than 3 years. The third delimitation was that participants worked in Puerto Rico.

Significance of the Study

Contribution to Business Practice

The results of this study might influence social change and business practice to create economic, social, and environmental value to businesses and key stakeholders. The findings of this study may contribute to improving the CSR-related communication between organizational leaders and stakeholders, which could possibly lead to improved financial performance, such as increasing profitability and return on investment. My findings might contribute to business profitability, growing sales, and engaged employees. My conclusions might help leaders better understand how to execute organizational strategies and improve corporate image and reputation.

Implications for Social Change

Implications for positive social change might include the creation of eco-friendly products to enhance wellness in communities. My findings might be useful as applied to manufacturing in recycling materials, such as boxes and bottles. My conclusions of this study might contribute to reducing the paperwork generated daily. The results of this study could possibly lead to the creation of innovative ideas that might help community residents and the environment. My study's findings may contribute to the development of new job opportunities for the community's betterment.

A Review of the Professional and Academic Literature

The purpose of this qualitative multiple case study was to explore strategies some commercial banking, loan, and savings association leaders used to implement a successful CSR program to improve profitability. Acquiring significant knowledge, characterizing key terms, discovering important phrasing, and relating research results to other analytical outcomes were the purposes of establishing this literature review. The literature review contained CSR's impact on stakeholders, the natural environment, and firm financial performance.

The literature review included topics such as stakeholder theory, principles of stakeholder theory, stakeholder theory concerning internal and external stakeholders, instrumental stakeholder approach, descriptive stakeholder approach, normative stakeholder approach, normative approach to value creation, the historical evolution of the concept of CSR, the connection between stakeholder theory and CSR, normative approach through CSR, profitability and CSR, profitability and stakeholder theory. In this literature review, I used peer-reviewed journals as my primary source. I used Academic Search Complete, APA PsycInfo, Business Source Complete, Computer & Applied Sciences Complete, CINAHL plus with full text, EBSCOhost, Education Source, ERIC, Hospitality & Tourism Complete, and Political Science Complete. I also used JSTOR, Sage journals as databases, United Nations web, and Google Scholar.

The literature review of this doctoral study consisted of 82 references, of which 54 (65%) had a publication date between 2018-2022. The number of references used in

each category was 80 (97%) peer-reviewed articles and two (3%) books. The entire study consisted of 179 sources, of which 126 (70%) had a publication date between 2018-2022. The number of references used in each category was 175 (97%) peer-reviewed articles, one report (.5%), one website (1.6%), and two (1%) books. The keywords used in searches were stakeholder theory, stakeholders, normative approach, descriptive and normative features, and instrumental stakeholder approach, CSR and profitability, CSR innovation, public-private corporation, stakeholder theory, CSR and stakeholder, CSR communication, CSR ethics, Stakeholder engagement, CSR, employees' engagement, CSR and returned on investment, CSR sustainability, Employees' job satisfaction, CSR community, CSR organizational leadership, global financial crisis, and CSR.

Stakeholder Theory

Stakeholder theory was the conceptual framework for this study. Stakeholder theory is a comprehensive term for a genre of approaches that can help leaders understand the relationship between firms and their stakeholders (Jones et al., 2018). Freeman (1984) stated that leaders could influence stakeholder groups, but stakeholder groups can also influence the organizational leaders. Organizational performance is dependent upon stakeholder participation in the firm's activities. Valentinov et al. (2019) stated that stress between organizational leaders and their current circumstances exist, and that stakeholder theorists can address those pressures. In the context of the stakeholder theory, corporate leaders can be purposeful in their activities when engaging in relationship with all stakeholders (Peng & Isa, 2020). The stakeholder theory is helpful in understanding the mutual influences between leaders and stakeholders in enhancing organizational performance.

Through the stakeholder theory, organizational leaders can be responsible to stakeholders' interests. Business leaders enhance business performance by putting stakeholders at the focal point of vital decision making processes (Freeman, 1984). Stakeholder theory is a broad term that can help leaders understand the critical link between firms and stakeholders (Jones et al., 2018). Each stakeholder group has different interests. Maintaining a strong commitment to stakeholders is the responsibility of organizational leaders (Freeman, 2001). Freeman (1984) stated that corporate leaders have the obligation to manage the interests of stakeholders and can impact enterprises to manage the fidelity of customers. Stakeholder theorists think that the capacity to meet financial and social goals which can maintain stakeholder's interests in the organizational framework relies upon an organizational stakeholder framework (Barakat & Wada, 2021). The proof that corporate leaders are executing the stakeholder theory is when leaders provide yearly reports on the ecological effects of organizational strategies (Martínez & Mesa, 2021). Based on the stakeholder theory, organizational leaders rely on stakeholders for the corporate survival (Vitolla et al., 2019). Organizational leaders can collaborate with stakeholders to improve the likelihood of organizational survival.

Organizational leaders' primary focus is valuing stakeholders' interests instead of focusing on monetary outcomes. Schaltegger et al. (2019) stated that organizational leaders do not limit themselves for monetary worth if they focus on the worth creation of

stakeholders. Further, business leaders can have a perspective, such as creating economic value as they contribute to the stakeholders' worth (Schaltegger et al., 2019). Creating organizations with far-reaching humanistic, social, and environmental impacts is central to the stakeholder theory (Schaltegger et al., 2019). Battling against lack of healthy sustenance and overfishing is an illustration of business cases for sustainability, and by addressing social and environmental issues, business leaders create value for all stakeholders (Schaltegger et al., 2019). Business leaders are less inclined to participate in working relationships with stakeholders through an instrumental approach (Weitzner & Deutsch, 2019) and strive for a more hands-on, mutually engaging approach to strengthen long term relationships. Strong relationships evolving from collaboration between leaders and stakeholders supports organizational growth.

Business leaders can maintain philanthropic activities and product quality to satisfy stakeholders' interests. Focusing on both organizational and stakeholder interests is the responsibility of business leaders (Overall, 2016). One perspective is that by focusing on their own philanthropic interests, business leaders may indirectly address social stakeholders' needs (Overall, 2016). Freeman (1984) stated that for an organizational leader to be effective, the leader strives to continuously meet the stakeholders' expectations. Encountering a startling debasement of their satisfaction, a deterioration of their current circumstance, or an unexpected drop in the level of fulfillment of clients toward the quality of items can be symptoms stakeholders can face, and thus may negatively impact organizational performance (Mahon et al., 2018). Huml et al. (2018) stated leader responsiveness to crises may determine the ability to serve stakeholder interests. Through the organization of stakeholders' interests, business leaders can recognize and impact larger stakeholder groups (Huml et al., 2018). To avoid a negative impact on the business, organizational leaders must recognize all stakeholder groups' needs.

Organizational leaders can drive corporate performance by taking the right business action to benefit stakeholders. Freeman (1984) pointed out that organizational leaders can work in the interests of stakeholders. For instance, business leaders can address the issues for every stakeholder by being open and receptive to stakeholder needs. Investors are the ones that have a close relationship with the organization. The embodiment of critical reasoning is when leaders begin managing the diverse stakeholders' interests that could impact or be affected by the organization. Organizational leaders and staff members can gain advantage through perceiving a social or corporate emergency (Snoeijers & Poels, 2018). To dominate the communication, organizational leaders can accumulate data about a corporate crisis and impart that data to stakeholders. By having the assets and staff, individuals that can see the emergency, leaders can respond to a corporate crisis faster than stakeholders can identify the crisis. Having an obligation to manage the stakeholder groups is the responsibility of corporate leaders and this action greatly influences the ability of corporations to drive customer loyalty and organizational performance.

Implementing a CSR program can affect firm performance and stakeholders' perceptions. Organizational leaders have the responsibility to contribute to the stakeholder groups (Freeman, 1984). Leaders do not have to focus on only one stakeholder group but all stakeholder groups. Organizational leaders who treat well one stakeholder group can affect how other stakeholder groups view the corporate techniques (Francis et al., 2017). Leaders that consciously mistreat stakeholders and do not address stakeholder concerns are socially irresponsible. Campbell (2018) indicated that if some organizational leaders had frail financial performance, they were less inclined to carry out a CSR program for the organization. The firm monetary conditions may affect the conduct of organizational leaders.

The role that stockholders have is critical for a business's overall performance. Organizational leaders have a relationship with stockholders since stockholders have a stake in the organization (Freeman, 2001). A strong commitment exists between organizational leaders and investors. If organizational leaders act against the trustee obligation to investors, the investors can sue the corporate leaders for their conduct. Rose et al. (2018) mentioned three stakeholder theory approaches: normative, descriptive, and instrumental. The focus of the literature lies on the differences between instrumental and normative approaches. Leaders can use one of the approaches to benefit the organization and stakeholders. Leaders can acquire information about the connection between organizational leaders and stakeholders. Jones et al. (2018) stated that the instrumental methodology is not predominant when alluding to stakeholders. Brulhart et al. (2019) expressed that creating value for stakeholders and fulfilling their needs is critical in enhancing business performance. Business leaders have the responsibility to remain loyal to stockholders as loyalty builds the relationship of exchanged goods and services, leading to increased profitability.

The Principles of Stakeholder Theory

Organizational leaders can enhance business performance by following stakeholder theory's six principles. According to Freeman (2001), stakeholder theory contains six principles: entry and exit, the principle of governance, the principle of externalities, the concept of contract costs, the agency principle, and the principle of limited immortality. Freeman presented the first ground rule, which is the principle of entry and exit. Regarding passage, withdrawal, and renegotiation of an agreement, stakeholders need to have reasonable meaning for organizational leaders (Freeman, 2001). For example, stakeholders can understand that leaders have transparent and fair rules when hiring employees and terminating their contracts. Stakeholders have to choose whether an arrangement exists with the organizational leaders (Freeman, 2001). A contract between organizational leaders and stakeholders involves the techniques and strategies against unpredictable circumstances. Leaders have to use workable methods to protect stakeholders (Freeman, 2001). By following the first principle, stakeholders can perceive organizational boundaries toward entry and exit of a business.

Organizational leaders can maintain a strong relationship with stakeholders by having the second principle of stakeholder theory. The second ground rule is governance which involves the guidelines between stakeholders and the firm's leaders (Freeman, 2001). The relationship between a firm's leaders and stakeholders requires transparency. Not surrounding the privileges to partake in the organization's interest is about the principle of governance (Freeman, 2001). If there is a stakeholder board in the corporation, the stakeholders reserve the privilege to participate in a forum. Before organizational leaders change the organization's rules, they inform stakeholders and, by unanimous consent, make a wise decision for the organization (Freeman, 2001). Stakeholders and business leaders can maintain a strong relationship when making business decisions by having the principle of governance.

Business leaders have to follow the third principle of stakeholder theory for organizational decisions to benefit stakeholder groups. The third principle is the importance of externalities (Freeman, 2001). Sometimes, organizational leaders make decisions that can affect a group of stakeholders. Specific stakeholders can benefit from the leaders' actions, but other stakeholders do not take advantage; instead, they are more likely to suffer particular difficulties from the leaders' actions. The fundamental idea of externalities is that anyone affected by the business leaders can turn into a stakeholder (Freeman, 2001). For example, C has the privilege to involve with the agreement if A and B perpetrate an expense on C. For this situation, C is concerned with the contract, and business leaders need to rethink the terms of the arrangement.

Following the fourth principle, business leaders can observe that stakeholders have the same right to receive equivalent earnings. The fourth ground rule is the principle of contracting costs (Freeman, 2001). In an agreement, if each party has the same rights, then each party needs to be bearing equivalent sums of earnings. Stakeholders that enjoy the corresponding benefit in accord with an organization will experience gains according to the contract. Stakeholders can influence the organization (Kumar et al., 2016). Financial leaders will face the challenge of quantifying each stakeholder's amount because not all the costs are economical (Freeman, 2001). Business leaders have to follow the principle of contracting costs to satisfy stakeholders who directly impact the business.

Through the fifth ground rule, organizational leaders are responsible for seeing a corporate emergency first, before the stakeholders. The fifth ground rule is the principle of agency (Freeman, 2001). The leader of a firm is an agent, and the agent has the responsibility to attend to the stakeholders' interests. Inside the limits of other principals, organizational leaders can arbitrate conflicts and help stakeholders in their needs (Freeman, 2001). Within an organization, leaders require excellent communication with the stakeholders. The higher the opportunities of success will depend on leaders and the right staff seeing an emergency first than stakeholders (Snoeijers & Poels, 2018). Corporate leaders can see and solve the emergency before stakeholders perceive that there is an emergency. This enhances an organization's credibility in their relationship with stakeholders.

Leaders have the responsibility to ensure that the organization exists for an extended period. The sixth ground rule is the principle of limited immortality (Freeman,

2001). The concept of limited immortality has to do with the longevity of the firm. Some stakeholders know that the enterprise's survival is at their most significant advantage even if they are unsure about the fate of the organization (Freeman, 2001). Suppose the business only exists for a short period. In that case, some of the stakeholders, such as shareholders, will take advantage of the organization's vulnerability. Other stakeholders, such as employees, will lose their jobs after the corporation comes to an end (Freeman, 2001). The leaders can build strategies and manage the company in a way that ensures their survival. When leaders do not have a good relationship with stakeholders, organizational survival is at risk (Freeman, 2001). Stakeholders are ultimately uncertain about the occurrences that can happen to the firm in the future (Freeman, 2001). Stakeholders that are part of a community in the location of a business play an essential role in business survival.

Stakeholder Theory Concerning Internal and External Stakeholders

Corporate leaders have the responsibility to satisfy each stakeholder group. Three kinds of stakeholders exist: internal, external, and media stakeholders (Koehler & Raithel, 2018). Internal stakeholders are employees, while external stakeholders are clients, local community leaders, providers, and shareholders. Salem et al. (2018) stated that organizational leaders could frustrate other stakeholder groups when satisfying the requirements of one stakeholder group. Corporate leaders have to think about the wellbeing of all stakeholder groups.

Internal and external stakeholders are essential for organizational success. For effective and sustainable stakeholder management, corporate leaders must focus on the interests of all stakeholders (Freeman, 1984). In other words, organizational enhance business performance if leaders can satisfy all stakeholders' interests. Organizational leaders could disappoint stakeholder groups when leaders focus on meeting the needs of only one stakeholder group (Freeman, 2001). Corporate leaders can impact ecology and monetary execution when having a functioning relationship with stakeholders. Salem et al. (2018) stated that knowing about stakeholders does not ensure that leaders favor stakeholders' interests. Leaders that identify stakeholders do not bode well until participating in a real connection with stakeholders. Yoon and Chung (2018) stated that instead of having social responsibility for internal stakeholders, the social obligation for external stakeholders could improve reputation and client satisfaction. Internal and external stakeholders may have a positive effect on the organization.

Corporate leaders have to choose the best stakeholder elements to meet stakeholders' needs. Rose et al. (2018) mentioned three stakeholder theory elements: normative, descriptive, and instrumental. Rather than acting exclusively as leaders for shareholders, normative theorists showed leaders a moral aspect of the normative approach to go to the interest of several stakeholders (Rose et al., 2018). Descriptive leaders worry about recognizing and understanding the stakeholders' connections and interests. Instrumental leaders examine the association between stakeholders and corporate leaders' results.

Instrumental Stakeholder Approach

Leaders identified a dual relationship between an organization and stakeholders. Two aspects exist in stakeholder theory: instrumental stakeholder approach and moral stakeholder approach (De Gooyert et al., 2017). By centering the attention on essential worth, moral stakeholder theorists mull over stakeholders based on scholarly writings (De Gooyert et al., 2017). Having a focal point of the convergence on the average returns of the organization, stakeholder theorists consider stakeholders as priorities. Stakeholders can view leaders as acting in a type of personal responsibility by satisfying stakeholders' interests. Instrumental leaders have a more practical approach as they hope to profit from showing unselfishness (De Gooyert et al., 2017). The responsibility of every organizational leader is to recognize stakeholders' needs as the primary corporate priority.

Business leaders have to prove to stakeholders that they abide by the principles established in the organization. Organizational leaders convey and build-up requirements to the associations between stakeholder groups through activities and words for standards to become guidelines for activity (Jones et al., 2018). Instrumental moral leaders can have a tough time persuading a stakeholder that they will adjust to the principles of having a decent relationship than moralist leaders (Jones et al., 2018). By finishing the objective of having a proper relationship with stakeholders, leaders need to guarantee that they comprehend and adjust with the principles, to a certain extent, that they can persuade stakeholders not to abuse the standards (Jones et al., 2018). Rather than maximizing investors' profits, leaders have the ethical responsibility to protect stakeholders' interests (Jones et al., 2018). The critical goal is to protect stakeholders' interests to preserve organizational survival.

Descriptive Stakeholder Approach

Distinguishing and comprehending the stakeholders' interests and connections are the studies of descriptive theorists. Leaders will be more averse to carrying out the relationship-building methodology if leaders concentrate on seeing relationships work through an instrumental focal point (Weitzner & Deutsch, 2019). Normative theorists can shape the instrumental viewpoints and descriptive elements. Rose et al. (2018) explored the connection among stakeholders and interests and the basic normative positions. Having a relationship with stakeholders might not be enough to satisfy stakeholders' needs; being proactive and responsive to stakeholder concerns strengthens the collaborative relationship between leaders and stakeholders to improve performance.

Normative Stakeholder Approach

The normative stakeholder approach may not have instrumental elements for the benefit of the organization and stakeholders. Rose et al. (2018) stated that the theoretical basis for connecting descriptive and instrumental aspects to normative problems is missing in underexplored in the research. Through having a normative approach, organizational leaders can perceive that the stakeholders have the legitimacy to receive clear and compelling data (Vitolla et al., 2019). There is a need to improve the normative components in the public sector. Scholars initially improve the stakeholder theory in the

private sector (Vitolla et al., 2019). Leaders with faith in the normative approach zeroed in on the ethical angles to the stakeholders' interests.

The normative leaders do not focus primarily on profit maximization because the normative features are morally in favor of stakeholders. Business leaders that have a moral perspective consider stakeholders valuable (De Gooyert et al., 2017). Similarly, Rose et al. (2018) stated that organizational leaders have the ethical commitment to perceive and consider stakeholders' interests. The normative approach is the philosophy that entails leaders to act and behave toward stakeholders (Rose et al., 2018). Through a normative perspective, Retolaza et al. (2018) stated that organizational leaders are responsible for enhancing human dignity, which is a resolution to the common good of the interest of a community of persons. Leaders need to make practical decisions that can add to the welfare of all stakeholders (Retolaza et al., 2018). The welfare of all stakeholders is the main priority for normative leaders.

Corporate leaders and their interactions with stakeholders are fundamental for the existence of an organization. Jiao et al. (2017) stated a significant and positive association between stakeholder-based performance (SBP) and top managers' other values. On the one hand, regarding values refers to the reciprocal action between top managers and organizational stakeholders (Jiao et al., 2017). Further, SBP involves four elements: quality of goods and services, authoritative equity, stakeholder alliance, and opportunity cost. Another discovery is that no association is between organizational age and SBP (Jiao et al., 2017). A positive connection exists between corporate size and SBP

(Jiao et al., 2017). In various ways, stakeholders can experience and detect the arrangement of virtues and moral ascribes, but continuous interaction from the organization to stakeholders is one of the most important ways (Jiao et al., 2017). Reciprocal action has to exist between corporate leaders and organizational stakeholders to ensure business survival.

The thoughts of morals have to be consequently appropriate when considering stakeholders as individuals. Freeman (2017) stated that the need for normative support is the contending of some researchers about the stakeholder theory. Similarly, Zakhem and Palmer (2017) also stated that theorists require normative support in the context of management. Leaders must regard individuals as intends to our closures essentially in all business settings. Leaders may create positive ramifications for all stakeholders when leaders deal with the stakeholders' interests (Zakhem & Palmer, 2017). Some stakeholders will search for another organization when other stakeholders seek their advantages to the detriment of other stakeholders' interests (Zakhem & Palmer, 2017). On the off chance that happens persistently in a free society, stakeholders that were victims of detrimental behavior will leave the organization and search for other organizations to fulfill their needs (Zakhem & Palmer, 2017). Corporate leaders have to treat stakeholders equally in all business settings.

Some corporate leaders have to learn how to manage the different interests between stakeholders and shareholders. In the context of keeping leader interests in mind, some successful leaders get incentives to expand profits for investors while they look to beat their business rivals (Freeman, 2017). Distinctly to the extent of perceiving and fulfilling some stakeholder inclinations, according to the shareholder point of view, some stakeholders generate instrumental value (Zakhem & Palmer, 2017). Putting the shareholders' interests over other stakeholders' interests is, in a sense, a form of discrimination (Zakhem & Palmer, 2017). To avoid discrimination between stakeholders' groups, corporate leaders have to stop putting shareholders' interests over other stakeholders' needs.

Business leaders have to understand the two goals of the normative stakeholder theory. All stakeholders have natural virtue in the context of the normative stakeholder theory (Zakhem & Palmer, 2017). Zakhem and Palmer (2017) stated that two allencompassing objectives in the normative approaches exist. The first goal is for management theorists to receive and integrate business and moral contemplations (Zakhem & Palmer, 2017). The second goal is generating value for stakeholders through some feeling of equal treatment, and considering the inherent value of stakeholders has to be the focal point of management theorists (Zakhem & Palmer, 2017). Moral standards, qualities, and rights are the foundations of the normative approach.

Some leaders are not considering the inborn value of stakeholders, and they are using stakeholders as if they were objects for the organization. Organizational leaders need to regard stakeholders' ends and interests since stakeholders have natural worth (Zakhem & Palmer, 2017). Business leaders do not need to use stakeholders to advance leaders' concerns since leaders' choices can influence stakeholders (Zakhem & Palmer, 2017). Organizational leaders have to ensure that they do not overlook the virtues of different stakeholders if leaders are seeking to protect the business interests (Zakhem & Palmer, 2017). If the organizational leaders recognize shareholders' interests, they ignored other stakeholders' interests, and leaders might have adverse consequences (Zakhem & Palmer, 2017). Corporate leaders are responsible for ensuring that all stakeholders' needs are a priority for the organization.

If leaders do not let the stakeholders know that they are using the profits only for their benefit, they treat internal and external stakeholders as mere means. An illustration of individuals as simple means is the act of subjugation where the slave cannot decide for himself, assuming the need to continue working for the slaveholder (Zakhem & Palmer, 2017). In the business context, stakeholders have the right to know whether the leaders are obtaining their gains to help society or benefit some leaders in the organization (Zakhem & Palmer, 2017). Zakhem and Palmer (2017) stated that refusing the inborn worth of stakeholders is a manipulation method without the association of physical power. The point of focus is that stakeholders are not mere means in an organization.

A person can convey the possibility of obligation not to mislead an individual's characteristic worth. A differentiation exists between perfect and imperfect obligations (Zakhem & Palmer, 2017). The commitment to mislead is insufficient, and the responsibility that is not to mislead is excellent (Zakhem & Palmer, 2017). However, the inability to do obligation not to mislead will disregard the individuals' privileges which are the obligation to mislead (Zakhem & Palmer, 2017). Jiao et al. (2017) stated that

managers could perceive stakeholders' needs and focus on the ethical action of investing in stakeholder connections when other-regarding values impact managers' ethical mindfulness. Corporate leaders must clearly understand the relationship between perfect and imperfect obligations.

Normative Approach to Value Creation

The reconciliation of clashing stakeholders increases the likelihood of valuing the authenticity of stakeholders' interests when leaders consider the business as a community of people. Existing as an alternate option by the Catholic social thinkers, value creation is dependent on human poise, a rule of authenticity, and resolution (Retolaza et al., 2018). Freudenreich et al. (2020) stated that if organizational leaders do not create value for various stakeholder groups, the leaders can lose colleagues, corporate assets, and authenticity. Leaders and stakeholders can have effective results through coordinated efforts to discover an adequate arrangement to appease clashing stakeholders Freudenreich et al., 2020). Using Catholic social thought, business leaders can have a more normative perspective while considering the stakeholders' interests and values (Retolaza et al., 2018). The viewpoint involves the settled and expected contentions between stakeholders.

Organizational leaders benefit by sharing data and getting information from stakeholders. Stakeholders add to the firm's value creation as organizational leaders build a good relationship with their stakeholders (Jones et al., 2018). Freudenreich et al. (2020) stated that organizational leaders can focus on the relationship between stakeholder and business in terms of value creation. Leaders can add value to the firm when they start working in coordination with stakeholders (Freudenreich et al., 2020). Olatunde and Odeyinka (2021) stated that leaders could address the stakeholders' necessities when leaders can keep a good relationship with stakeholders. Giving out information is relevant to maintain a close relationship between corporate leaders and stakeholders (Van Rooijen et al., 2021). Drawing potential stakeholders are significant for organizational leaders and can lead to increased organizational profits (Van Rooijen et al., 2021). Leaders may improve profitability by having a good relationship with stakeholders.

Stakeholders can intentionally add value to the firm. Transaction costs of a company are a valuable tool to increase organizational success (Jones et al., 2018). First, stakeholders agree to have a functioning relationship with the leaders (Jones et al., 2018). Leaders may experience a significant degree of value creation for the organization as leaders embrace a close relationship with stakeholders (Jones et al., 2018). The strategy of collaboration to strengthen the relationship between leaders and stakeholders is a fundamental component of organizational success.

Leaders can build a strong relationship with stakeholders to practice the foundational aspects of stakeholders' relations. Hayibor (2017) stated that the core issue in stakeholder theory is the concept of fairness and justice. Organizational leaders that treat stakeholders with fairness and respect tend to influence stakeholder behavior (Hayibor, 2017). Harrison and Wicks (2021) stated that even when leaders treat their employees well and do no harm to the ecosystem, stakeholders can consider organizational leaders as unscrupulous when leaders utilize slave labor. One of the benefits that leaders can have by treating stakeholders respectfully, is that stakeholders can reasonably help corporate leaders accomplish organizational objectives (Harrison & Wicks, 2021). Stakeholders can show positive behavior toward leaders when leaders start practicing reciprocity with stakeholders (Harrison & Wicks, 2021). Stakeholders that believed that leaders are acting in strictly allocating the stakeholders' needs are more likely to trust and positively affect the firm's activity (Harrison & Wicks, 2021). On the contrary, stakeholders can move against the organizational leaders if leaders unfairly treat stakeholders and behave opportunistically (Harrison & Wicks, 2021). Corporate leaders' responsibility is to have reciprocal behavior toward stakeholders.

Stakeholders are more likely to cooperate, remain loyal, and foster trust-related behaviors for the firm. Hayibor (2017) stated that leaders could face the consequences when stakeholders receive unfair treatment from the organizational leaders. Koehler and Raithel (2018) expressed that when stakeholders perceive organizational leaders as less sympathetic during a corporate emergency, the organizational leaders can receive negative consequences from stakeholder groups. Unfair treatment by the leaders can lead to stakeholder disappointment (Koehler & Raithel, 2018). The normative approach focused on moral commitments that a firm's leaders have toward stakeholders (Koehler & Raithel, 2018). The normative approach can have descriptive features when normative theorists exposed the subject of fairness and unfairness to the extent of morality (Koehler & Raithel, 2018). Leaders may take control in building a trusting relationship with stakeholders to positively predict good outcomes in the relationship, to ideally enhance a mutually rewarding situation for the stakeholder and company.

Fair treatment can affect stakeholders to respond in a positive way. When stakeholders have a positive attitude to the leaders, they are more likely to collaborate with the firm performance (Jones et al., 2018). Similarly, Jones et al. (2018), Hayibor (2017) stated that value creation could diminish when there is no reciprocity between leaders and stakeholders. Organizational leaders that mistreat stakeholders will have consequences. The unfavorable exchange may lead to lawsuits and protests (Hayibor, 2017). Jones et al. stated that claims, protests, boycotts, spreading negative sentiment, and refusal to trade with the organization are negative signs toward the organizational leaders. A normative approach can act as an antidote against stakeholders' negative manifestations (Hayibor, 2017). For the most part, business performance depends on the reciprocal behavior of stakeholders. On the contrary, negative behavior comes as a result of the unfair treatment from leaders to stakeholders.

Normative Approach through CSR

Leaders can have a normative mindset by telling the truth and keeping promises to help others in society. Some organizational leaders engage in trade-offs during conflict between corporate and stakeholders' needs (Overall, 2016). Organizational leaders that prioritize stakeholders' interests, they are bound to amplify stakeholder value (Overall, 2016). Organizational leaders can concentrate on the stakeholders' interest first, even if the corporate leaders perform functions in the economic context of the organization (Overall, 2016). Corporate leaders can succeed in meeting stakeholders' interests.

Some leaders might experience nonfinancial benefits from CSR activities. The expectation is socially responsible organizational leaders behave ethically in the public domain (Overall, 2016). The main advantage of CSR activities is that leaders can increase the organizational reputation and customer loyalty (Overall, 2016). The normative leaders can perceive CSR activities as a moral component to enhance human dignity and make the corporate leaders focus on their ethical obligations toward society (Overall, 2016). Focusing on CSR activities through the normative approach can positively impact the organizations and stakeholders (Overall, 2016). Corporate leaders have the responsibility to have a normative approach toward stakeholders through CSR activities.

Some leaders tend to behave egoistically to gain some benefits from stakeholders. Organizational leaders often behave dishonestly by using CSR activities to misrepresent themselves and control and influence the public through superficial or empty gestures of CSR (Overall, 2016). Overall (2016) investigated how stakeholders discern organizational leaders' accomplishments as dishonest. Egoism theorists believe that business people need to have an egoistic mindset to advance organizational interests for the long term (Overall, 2016). Organizational leaders who behave egoistically may not cause positive outcomes for the organization and stakeholders. Sacrificing for others can be the long-term priority for any corporate leader. Stakeholders can perceive firm leaders as unethical as they focus on themselves instead of concentrating on the stakeholders' interests to accomplish organizational objectives (Overall, 2016). The disadvantage, in reference to the egoism theory, is that only a few stakeholders can benefit in the short term but ignoring other's interests can be devastated for organizational profitability and reputation (Overall, 2016). According to the egoists, corporate leaders protect self-interest and not putting stakeholders' interests or organizational interests (Overall, 2016). In the context of the stakeholder theory, business leaders can balance the stakeholders' interests with their interests to maximize profits and the common good of society (Soin, 2018). Organizational success lies in leaders benefitting stakeholders before the organization.

The Historical Evolution of the Concept of CSR

Business leaders apply corporate social responsibility toward society. Corporate social responsibility has been an essential business practice for nearly 100 years (Freeman & Hasnaoui, 2010). Scholars were developing the concept of CSR in the academic literature since 1926 (Freeman & Hasnaoui, 2010). Latapí Agudelo et al. (2019) stated CSR writings started to show up in some scholarly works, books, and nonauthoritative affiliations during the 1930s. The concept of CSR was growing in the minds of organizational leaders (Latapí Agudelo et al., 2019). Business owners have the responsibility to have a clear understanding of the moral needs of society.

Corporate leaders can understand how CSR came into existence through history. In 1959, Chalmers (1959) stated that CSR is the new trend for enhancing social responsibility for business people for the larger society. In the 1950s, corruption in different government entities, some employees receiving inadequate treatment in their jobs, and corruption in unemployment relief (Chalmers, 1959). Scholars discussed whether authoritative leaders need to apply CSR activities in their organization and make compelling reports related to CSR activities (Rashid, 2021). Throughout the 1960s, business leaders struggled for a clear CSR definition. Davis (1960) stated that while CSR was not an engrained concept. Business leaders can benefit society first instead of focusing on the corporate interest.

Researchers were discussing and fostering the idea of CSR before the 20th century. Some scholars demonstrate an interest in the CSR definition since 1958 (Freeman & Hasnaoui, 2010). After the 1970s, researchers were getting a precise meaning of CSR (Mishra, 2019). In the 1980s, the researchers focused on examining CSR's impact on society (Mishra, 2019). In the 20th century, some scholars expanded the CSR data across the United States. Researchers were getting a more extensive definition of CSR from the year 2000 (Mishra, 2019). In 2007, a survey revealed that Americans are aware that organizations can meet CSR compliance (Mishra, 2019). Stakeholders expect corporate leaders to act to ensure CSR compliance.

Corporate leaders must understand the definition of CSR and be able to apply CSR principles. Consistently, researchers comprehended that CSR is a term that has different implications and definitions (Freeman & Hasnaoui, 2010). Pattnaik and Shukla (2018) defined CSR as business owners working towards the interests of society and the organization. Mishra (2019) mentioned three eras which are awareness, issue, and responsiveness. During the 1950s-1960s, having a general duty toward contribution to society was the perception of some organizational leaders in the awareness era (Pattnaik & Shukla, 2018). During the late 1960s and earlier 1970s, racial segregation, contamination, and metropolitan degradation were the center of attention of some organizational leaders in the issue era (Pattnaik & Shukla, 2018). Corporate leaders took significant measures for CSR in the late 1970s of the responsive period (Pattnaik & Shukla, 2018). Some corporate leaders knew that they can contribute to society through CSR.

CSR leaders have to build in three areas to meet stakeholders' interests. Zanfardini et al. (2015) stated that CSR leaders have three areas when meeting stakeholders' expectations: economic, environmental, and societal goals. To find a clear CSR meaning, Freeman and Hasnaoui (2010) investigated the meaning of CSR in four countries. Organizational leaders will need to settle decisions under normative standards if corporate leaders acknowledge CSR (Freeman & Hasnaoui, 2010). CSR leaders must apply normative standards to meet the stakeholders' interests better.

Normative standards can go beyond corporate, economic interests. Organizational leaders involved in CSR activities are meeting stakeholders' expectations (Zanfardini et al., 2015). The main focus on CSR is for leaders to have constructive outcomes related to

all stakeholders (Costa & Torrecchia, 2018). Pattnaik and Shukla (2018) stated that companies could benefit society through CSR activities such as providing public health services, a clean ecology, career opportunities, scientific research, and invention for the good of humanity. Shea and Hawn (2019) stated is that stakeholders can see CSR leaders as warm and exciting contributors to the wellbeing of society. Similarly, Davis (1960) expressed that if leaders avoid taking responsibility, this may lead organizations to lose social power (Davis, 1960). Leaders have the responsibility to balance strength and commitment (Davis, 1960). Organizational leaders can design strategies and take actions beyond economic interests.

The Connection Between Stakeholder Theory and CSR

Corporate leaders who follow stakeholder theory and create CSR activities may positively affect society. Leaders that follow stakeholder theory revealed their motivations toward the public when engaging in CSR activities (Tang & Tang, 2018). A stakeholder approach is a way organizational leaders view an organization from the point of conflict between the relationship and interest of stakeholders (Částek & Cenek, 2017). When leaders have a stakeholder approach, they maximize the benefits for all stakeholders to improve organizational performance (Částek & Cenek, 2017). Leaders who maintain a good relationship toward stakeholders can improve organizational performance.

Stakeholders can know and value the moral norm of organizational leaders that flow from social responsibility activities. El-Kassar et al. (2017) stated that CSR leaders could manage the obligation toward stakeholders through humanitarian, social causes. Leaders participating in a conversation with stakeholders, can acquire insights into stakeholders' interests to develop CSR activities (Babiak & Kihl, 2018). Leaders that want to address the needs of all stakeholders apply a normative approach (Babiak & Kihl, 2018). Humanitarian and social causes allow business leaders to contribute to solving stakeholders' needs.

Profitability and CSR

CSR is gaining popularity among the different stakeholder groups. Srivastava (2019) identified CSR as a self-regulatory act of business enterprise. Brulhart et al. (2019) stated that the business consumptions for social and ecological activities are CSR to support stakeholders. The community, workers, customers, and ecology are the responsibility of every CSR business owner (Davis et al., 2018). Through CSR, business leaders may see their responsibility toward the environment and different stakeholder groups.

Organizational leaders can accomplish firm growth through the products or services they can offer to the customers. Kumar et al. (2016) stated that scholars explored the concept of CSR in terms of business benefits. A positive connection exists between CSR and firm performance (Kumar et al., 2016). Between the 1970s and 1980s, some scholars explored many research information based on CSR and financial performance (Davis et al., 2018). From a similar point of view, Bocquet et al. (2017) also have a CSR strategy. Jiang et al. (2020) stated that stakeholder relationship capability is positively related to CSR reporting. Chijoke-Mgbame et al. (2019) expressed that organizational leaders have the responsibility of contributing to societal well-being. Stakeholders are pressuring business leaders to be socially responsible (Brulhart et al., 2019). If leaders are socially responsible, they can positively impact stakeholders and organizational performance.

Some stakeholders may be concerned about illicit activities that few companies infringe upon society. In the 21st century, some entrepreneurs have a great concern about socially responsible firms' financial performance (Brulhart et al., 2019). Jacobs and Kalbers (2019) indicated that Volkswagen leaders utilized illicit programming to undermine discharge tests. In this case, a defeat device is any vehicle software that can disable emission controls. When Volkswagen leadership placed cars on the road, the emission system controls were disabled, and Volkswagen's leaders went over the U.S. air quality regulations (Jacobs & Kalbers, 2019). Tyco leaders provided investors altered numbers in the income statement (Koehn, 2005). Under the new CEO, Tyco leaders had restated the earnings and write-off more than 2 billion dollars from pretax profits (Koehn, 2005). In the beginning, Volkswagen and Tyco leaders appeared to be socially responsible.

Organizational leaders give the wrong impression to stakeholders of being socially responsible even though leaders may be damaging ecology and morality. Consequently, Ahmad et al. (2019) stated that some employees could perceive that some leaders pretend to apply CSR activities to improve firm performance. If business owners ignore the stakeholder's demands to save cost, organizational leaders will be at risk of being at a competitive disadvantage (Kumar et al., 2016). Corporate leaders can spend much money on CSR activities such as environmental investments, creating policies that benefit the environment, and improving labor policies (Kumar et al., 2016). Investing in CSR activities may cause good outcomes for organizational performance.

Some corporate leaders may focus on potential stakeholders who can have an impact on the organization. Potential stakeholders can directly and positively influence the organization (Kumar et al., 2016). Besides firm leaders receiving pressure from stakeholders, some corporate leaders may engage in fraudulent activities (Jeong et al., 2018). Stakeholders might know that organizational leaders that contribute to CSR activities constantly may improve reputation in the long term (Jeong et al., 2018). Leaders need to work on improving their organizational reputation and firms' profitability through a CSR program (Jeong et al., 2018). CSR leaders can create activities that can improve organizational reputation toward society.

Adverse consequences of CSR activities impact financial performance. Jeong et al. (2018) stated that CSR activities increase the firm's value instead of harming firms' productivity. Leaders are responsible for being morally driven instead of economically driven when implementing a CSR program for their organization (Babiak & Kihl, 2018). Bhattacharya et al. (2020) stated that organizational leaders can increase their sales through their inner firm practices and altruistic CSR activities. Leaders are responsible for implementing a CSR program to take care of stakeholders' needs and improve organizational profitability (Campbell, 2018). When leaders know that actions are socially irresponsible, leaders mistreat the stakeholders (Campbell, 2018). The purpose of CSR leaders is to apply practices limiting any harms to society.

Some corporate leaders might have the opportunistic intention to improve organizational performance. Similar to Ahmad et al. (2019), Lu et al. (2019) stated that some leaders opportunistically participate CSR activities to improve firm reputation reflecting financial performance. On the contrary, some organizational leaders might have good intentions but might be dishonest by making opportunistic decisions that can harm firm reputations and financial performance (Bocquet et al., 2017). Yim et al. (2019) stated that CSR leaders could build a positive effect on society as well as improving firm reputation. Alikaj et al. (2017) said that a positive connection could exist between CSR and financial performance. Benlemlih and Bitar (2018) stated that organizational leaders might not manage the stakeholders' expectations when they have low CSR activities. Alikaj et al. (2017) expressed that CSR strength is the statistical significance with financial performance. Organizational leaders are becoming more aware of the importance of CSR (Alikaj et al., 2017). Also, stakeholders may be expecting good intentions toward organizational leaders in terms of CSR activities.

Corporate leaders have to remain loyal in fulfilling stakeholders' needs when engaging in CSR activities. Organizational leaders that need to assemble a solid ecological strategy can fulfill stakeholders' expectations instead of satisfying a specific stakeholder's group, leading to adverse consequences when building an environmental policy (Brulhart et al., 2019). The stress on stakeholders increases since the 2008 financial crisis (Brulhart et al., 2019). Researchers that explored CSR found a connection between ecological and economic performance (Gong et al., 2021). Organizational leaders who practice CSR message stakeholders that they are not only corporate focus but concentrate on society's well-being (Gong et al., 2021). Business leaders that practice CSR can take care of three areas: ecology, social conditions, and animal care (Srivastava, 2019). Srivastava (2019) stated that the profitability of a firm relates to practicing CSR activities. CSR leaders might attract some stakeholders to the organization which can increase organizational performance.

Reputation and brand lies on how CSR leaders implement CSR activities in their organization. When leaders implement CSR in their organizations, they improve their reputation and brand (Srivastava, 2019). Ahmad et al. (2019) stated that leaders ought to sincerely commit to advance in CSR activities and not to engage in CSR mainly to improve reputation and profit enhancement alone. Employees that are part of internal stakeholders can consider their involvement in the firms' meetings. Testa et al. (2018) stated that leaders have to allow employees to get involved in the corporate discussions in addressing social conflicts. Employees may have the right to discuss and make decisions inside the organization.

Employees are internal stakeholders which can directly affect the organization. Employees can establish a social environment and make the integration of CSR practices easier for an organization (Testa et al., 2018). Employees may see a solid sign of responsibility when leaders engage in CSR activities. Ahmad et al. (2019) found that leaders implementing CSR activities can contribute to employees' performance. CSR leaders can inspire and positively affect employees' attitudes and behaviors if they are not focused on economic benefits when exercising CSR activities (Testa et al., 2018). Employees' performance may increase when CSR leaders behave in a nonopportunistic way.

CSR performance has an impact in terms of cash resources or cash holdings. CSR is positively associated with competitive success (Bernal-Conesa et al., 2017). Sun et al. (2019) affirmed that a connection exists between firm economic performance and CSR activities. Still, some scholars discovered that CSR could positively affect a company's competitiveness (Sun et al., 2019). Arouri and Pijourlet (2017) stated that when leaders participate in CSR policies, they may give investors an advantage in shareholder wealth. If leaders implement workable CSR strategies, they can influence their competitiveness performance in the marketplace.

CSR leaders may understand the implication of what outcomes CSR activities can produce for the organization. Arouri and Pijourlet (2017) stated that leaders could increase the products sold in a given market with a comprehensive understanding of CSR execution. CSR performance can improve a company's worth and expand the cash holding, which can be a good sign for investors (Arouri & Pijourlet, 2017). Benlemlih and Bitar (2018) stated that leaders with a high level of CSR activities are more likely to manage the ecology and the stakeholders' interests. Leaders are responsible for knowing that they are more likely to improve corporate performance when supporting CSR when they invest in CSR (Benlemlih & Bitar, 2018). Business leaders can use CSR practices to maintain long-term relationships with various stakeholder groups that drive firm performance (Benlemlih & Bitar, 2018). Long-term relationships with stakeholders may have positive outcomes for the organization.

When organizational leaders publish a positive financial statement to stakeholders, the company's image and reputation are more likely to improve. Lu et al. (2019) stated that organizational leaders are more confident when communicating with stakeholders when they have an excellent CSR performance. A positive connection exists between a company's financial statement and CSR performance (Lu et al., 2019). The organizational leaders can publish in a positive tone the financial report of an organization when there is a higher CSR performance. A connection exists between firm performance and CSR performance (Lu et al., 2019). According to Chijoke-Mgbame et al. (2019), organizational leaders can have a decent reputation in participating in CSR activities compared to other corporate leaders that do not implement CSR activities in their organization. CSR performance may have a positive impact in the company's financial statement.

When leaders engage in CSR, the company's advertising can impact firm performance. Assaf et al. (2017) stated that CSR engagement could be positively related to firm performance. Business leaders that support CSR engagement can improve corporate financial performance (Sinthupundaja et al., 2019). In the past decade, business leaders recognized that advertising and CSR could positively impact corporate performance (Sinthupundaja et al., 2019). Assaf et al. (2017) stated that when leaders have insufficient CSR commitment, the organizational advertisement can be less appealing for stakeholders. Business leaders are responsible for engaging in CSR to have positive firm performance (Assaf et al., 2017). When business leaders commit to CSR activities, the organizational leaders may improve organizationl profitability.

Organizational leaders that integrate CSR behavior in an organization can positively affect innovation and corporate performance. Firm leaders with an innovative organizational culture are more likely to benefit from a CSR commitment (Bocquet et al., 2017). Boğan and Saruşık (2020) stated that employees are bound to team up with the organizational leaders when leaders intend to care for society. Innovative leaders that meet stakeholders' demands from CSR could increase firm value (Boğan & Saruşık, 2020). Organizational leaders can combine CSR and innovation and can improve innovation and economic performance by having CSR as part of their organizational strategy (Boğan & Saruşık, 2020). Corporate leaders are responsible for satisfying stakeholders' needs through CSR and innovation (Boğan & Saruşık, 2020). When leaders embrace CSR behavior, a connection between CSR and firm worth can exist.

Business leaders have to show CSR activities that are impacting society and ecology. Organizational leaders with a high level of social performance are more likely to communicate CSR reports in a simple language for stakeholders (Bacha & Ajina, 2019). A positive connection exists between CSR activities and financial performance, and positive correlation exists between organizational financial performance and the level of CSR reporting (Bacha & Ajina, 2019). Wang et al. (2018) agreed that a positive correlation between financial performance and CSR reporting exists. Sun et al. (2019) stated that leaders that neglected to communicate CSR reports need to accept the results of poor economic performance and presume from the stakeholders. Bacha and Ajina (2019) supported the relationship between CSR practices and the quality of the annual report. CSR leaders are responsible for making public CSR reports that are important for stakeholders to know.

Firm leaders must produce evidence whether the CSR information is negative or positive. Bacha and Ajina (2019) stated that a positive association could exist between CSR performance and the transparency of annual reports. Wang et al. (2018) noted that some organizational leaders tend to uncover positive data regarding CSR but obscuring negative CSR data. Stakeholders such as investors expect corporate leaders to be transparent in their annual reports (Wang et al., 2018). CSR reports are crucial for stakeholders and business leaders that want to avoid the stakeholders' pressure (Sun et al., 2019). Sun et al. (2019) found a negative connection between economic performance and the quality of voluntary CSR reports. Conversely, Matuszak and Różańska (2017) stated that when leaders disclose CSR information, they can positively affect the corporate economic performance, which can cause attracting more customers and investors to the organization. The truth is that organizational leaders can positively impact financial performance by spending assets on their CSR activities (Matuszak & Różańska, 2017). Corporate leaders could increase the value of an organization through CSR performance (Matuszak & Różańska, 2017). CSR leaders have to be transparent about their communication and activities.

Profitability and Stakeholders

When organizational leaders have a stakeholder orientation, the leaders might lead the organization to a competitive advantage. Business leaders pay close attention to the connection between stakeholder orientation and profitability (Jiang et al., 2020). Jiang et al. (2020) stated that an association exists between leaders' relationships with stakeholders and tech firms. Brulhart et al. (2019) stated that the item quality, development, and stakeholder connection with organizational leaders contribute to an organization's competitiveness (Brulhart et al., 2019). Stakeholder orientation can positively impact environmental proactivity (Jiang et al., 2020). Decreasing expenses, improving productivity, organizational development, and reputation are known as proactivity (Brulhart et al., 2019). Incorporating the ecological issues into the organizational policies is known as environmental proactivity.

Stakeholder orientation can negatively impact corporate profitability, but stakeholder orientation positively affects environmental proactivity. Anwar and Aziz (2019) stated that profitability is fundamental to the wealth creation of an organization. Similarly, Rasoulian et al. (2017) expressed that leaders examine the effects of stakeholders and firm performance if they want to remain financially successful for the long term. Brulhart et al. (2019) stated that stakeholder orientation leaders could impact organizational productivity and environmental proactivity. Naseem et al. (2019) noted that financial stability is a critical focus in business strategies. One of the adverse outcomes that leaders can face is that some employees can leave the company and find another company (Francis et al., 2017). Francis et al. (2017) stated that organizational leaders can struggle to endure, dominate, and develop their organization with the missing help of different stakeholder groups. The organization's survival relies on satisfying stakeholders' needs (Francis et al., 2017). Employees are also stakeholders that can have a positive or negative impact toward the organization.

Similarly, employees pressure corporate leaders to meet the stakeholders' demands. When leaders failed to have a stakeholder orientation, they are more likely to have a poor corporate reputation (Brulhart et al., 2019). Some organizational leaders receive pressure from employees and other stakeholder groups (Graham, 2020). External stakeholders are critical players for the long-term existence of the organization (Naseem et al., 2019). External stakeholders can drive organizational leaders to achieve corporate objectives (Naseem et al., 2019). External and internal stakeholders can pressure organizational leaders.

The lack of expertise and insight on meeting the stakeholders' expectations might lead to adverse outcomes and unwanted mistakes. Au-Yong et al. (2017) stated that one of the barriers some organizational leaders have is the lack of skill and knowledge about the quality of work done to meet stakeholders' expectations. To maximize profits in an organization, organizational leaders need to focus on the stakeholders' demands (Brulhart et al., 2019). If leaders do not have a stakeholder orientation, they will not have a profitable organization (Bommaraju et al., 2019). Business leaders face significant responsibilities toward meeting the stakeholders' expectations to have a financially successful business (Bommaraju et al., 2019). Organizational leaders have to educate themselves on how to satisfy stakeholders' needs.

Organizational leaders must create a work environment that meets stakeholders' demands. Au-Yong et al. (2017) stated that leaders are responsible for developing the skill and knowledge through relevant training to meet stakeholders' expectations. Leaders could create awareness in the workplace and provide training to their employees (Au-Yong et al., 2017). Employees will create a better workplace and meet the organizational goals when they see their leaders working to meet stakeholders' expectations (Au-Yong et al., 2017). Rasoulian et al. (2017) stated that firm leaders are responsible for repairing inconveniencies to all stakeholders affected by a crisis that leaders caused to society. Částek and Cenek (2017) expressed that there is a connection between business performance and stakeholder management. Organizational leaders have to maintain their responsibility for stakeholder groups.

Stakeholders can give leaders the arrangement of a situation if the organizational leaders' performance decreases in their finances. When leaders have a healthy relationship with their stakeholders, leaders can positively affect organizational performance (Částek & Cenek, 2017). Částek and Cenek (2017) stated that leaders with a great relationship with stakeholders are more likely to receive feedback from stakeholders to improve organizational management. The leaders have a critical role with stakeholders in maintaining the company's performance (Částek & Cenek, 2017). The influence of a good relationship between stakeholders and leaders can maintain financial performance (Částek & Cenek, 2017). A positive relationship with stakeholders is critical for leaders that are working on recovering the performance of an organization (Částek & Cenek, 2017). Organizational leaders could keep a close relationship with stakeholders to maintain high profits.

Organizational leaders have to remain responsible toward stakeholders if they want to improve firm value. A functional relationship between stakeholders and firms can increase the value of a firm (Galant, 2017). The conclusion is that specific stakeholders have more influence on organizations than stakeholders that do not directly impact the company's performance (Galant, 2017). Galant (2017) and Freeman (2001) stated that investors could interfere with business decisions through a lawsuit if the organizational leaders are dishonest in meeting stakeholders' interests. Galant (2017) expressed that generating income and meeting stakeholders that significantly influence a company's performance (Částek & Cenek, 2017; Rasoulian et al., 2017). When leaders are socially responsible, they can increment organizational profitability (Akisik & Gal, 2017). Stakeholders can have the opportunity to influence an organization on decision-making (Au-Yong et al., 2017). When leaders involve the most influential stakeholders in the leaders' decisions, leaders might have better organizational performance and service

among customers (Au-Yong et al., 2017). Corporate leaders can improve profitability through the influence of stakeholders.

When stakeholders have sufficient information about a firm's activities, they can consider supporting the leaders. Stakeholders can require information about leaders' activities in their organization (Akisik & Gal, 2017). The reason stakeholders need information about leaders' actions is that stakeholders can assess whether the firm's leaders gain ground in the organizational objectives (Akisik & Gal, 2017). Employees can decide to seek employment with a firm's leader that takes care of stakeholder's needs (Akisik & Gal, 2017). Customers may need information from organizational leaders.

Transition

In Section 1, I included the foundation of the doctoral study. This foundation consists of the problem statement; purpose statement; nature of the study; research question; interview questions; conceptual framework; operational definitions; assumptions, limitations, delimitations; the significance of the study; and a review of the academic literature. In Section 2, I restated the purpose statement and include the role of the researcher and participants, research method and design, population and sampling, ethical research, data collection instrument, data collection technique, data organization technique, data analysis, and reliability and validity. Section 3 included the introduction, presentation of findings, application to professional practice, implication for social change, recommendations for action, recommendation for further research, reflections, and conclusion.

Section 2: The Project

Purpose Statement

The purpose of this qualitative multiple case study was to explore strategies some commercial banking, loan, and savings association leaders used to implement a successful CSR program to improve profitability. The target population was four retail banking, loan, and savings association leaders in Puerto Rico who implemented successful CSR programs to improve profitability. The implication for positive social change might include benefiting community residents with increased employment opportunities and an improved healthy natural environment through environmentally conscious distributors and suppliers that encourage energy efficiency and waste reduction.

Role of the Researcher

Qualitative researchers spend time collecting and analyzing information when congregating information from participants (Lanka et al., 2021). Further, as the primary investigative instrument, the researcher is responsible for protecting the integrity of the investigation, including protecting confidential identities and information gathered (Gabbidon & Chenneville, 2021). The various roles of the researcher include: establishing a trusting relationship with participants, collect data through interviews and a review of available documentation, organize and analyze the data, store data in a locked cabinet and on a password protected computer, and provide participants with a courtesy summary of findings (Gabbidon & Chenneville, 2021). Dastyar et al. (2017) stated that to restrict access to people, a researcher can utilize a password-protected computer and a locked cabinet to protect the research study. I had no relationship with participants and the research area. I selected this topic to gain insights into strategies leaders used to participate in a CSR program to produce positive outcomes for their stakeholders to improve profitability.

The *Belmont Report* provides the guiding principles for ethical research practice (Anabo et al., 2019). Friesen et al. (2017) stated that straightforwardness and diligence to ethical activities were fundamental to the adherence to *the Belmont Report*. I gave fair treatment to all research activities ensuring participants had the right to participate or withdraw. As a researcher, I used the *Belmont Report* to ensure the research progress was transparent and ethical, following the Institutional Review Board's (IRB) principles at Walden University. A researcher has the responsibility to provide the respect participants deserve during a study (U.S. Department of Health & Human Services, 1979). I ensured that participants received the utmost respect throughout and beyond the research period.

The moral position for the security of human subjects lies in *The Belmont Report* (Marino, 2020). There are three principles in *The Belmont Report*, and the first one is *respect for participants*, which is about treating people as specialists who can make their own decisions (U.S. Department of Health & Human Services, 1979). The researcher has to protect those people that have less determination (U.S. Department of Health & Human Services, 1979). I would have demonstrated respect for the participants, had any of them decided to voluntarily withdraw from my study at any time. The second principle

is *beneficence*, which is about limiting potential damages and expanding the advantages of participants (U.S. Department of Health & Human Services, 1979). I will secure and protect the well-being of participants by securing their confidential information in a password-protected folder in my computer and flash drive for 5 years. The principle of *justice* is the third principle, which is about treating participants equally (U.S. Department of Health & Human Services, 1979). To ensure justice, I made certain each participant was informed of their rights in the research process, my role was to protect those rights at all times. Knowing these three principles, I followed the ethical guidelines in *The Belmont Report* during the research process.

The more a researcher can decipher the conduct and impressions of others, the better the researcher can differentiate their world and the point of view of others (Fusch et al., 2018). Some qualitative researchers can explore the viewpoint of others (Fusch et al., 2018). Using an interview protocol, a document outlining each step of the interview process helps to ensure consistent treatment of each participant in the interview processes (Yeong et al., 2018). A panel review of interview questions helps to ensure the questions used align with the central business problem (Yin, 2018). My interview questions were critiqued by the established doctoral study committee assigned to me to ensure upmost quality of the interview process. I applied my professional and ethical best practices in separating my own views and experiences from the data collection and analysis processes.

Triangulation in data collection ensures information is gained from multiple sources to validate the data collected (Yin, 2018). I triangulated the study using interviews and physical artifacts to limit bias in the research. Member checking is a process of ensuring the accuracy of interview data collected (Caretta & Pérez, 2019). Brear (2019) stated that through the member checking technique, the researcher could reduce bias when the researcher's focus is on the viewpoint of the individuals. I mitigated bias by using the member checking technique to ensure that my interpretation of the interview data was accurate by asking participants to review my interpretations of their responses.

There were several advantages to using an interview protocol. First, it ensures a standardized approach to interviews that is repeatable (Maidin & Rahman, 2020). Maidin and Rahman (2020) stated that the interview protocol is a script containing all the interview questions that the researcher will use in the discussion. The interview protocol is a step-by-step process of setting up each interview the same, asking the same questions to each participant, and asking for additional information from participants in the same manner (Yeong et al., 2018). Second, the interview protocol involved preparing several participants for a quiet, comfortable, confidential, and time-respecting interview experience (see Appendix A); therefore, I ensured consistency in the interview process for each participant, ensuring they were comfortable and that each documented interview was kept confidential.

A quality interview is essential for a researcher to obtain quality data and understand participants' experiences and subject matter, and using the interview protocol can improve the adequacy of the interview process within the assigned time (Yeong et al., 2018). The researcher can improve the reliability and validity of the interview questions by using consistent practices that may reduce some bias (Maidin & Rahman, 2020). I encouraged participants to express their opinions freely about the phenomenon under study. As a researcher, I paid attention to the allocated time during the interview process. I used the interview protocol to obtain quality data and obtain valuable knowledge from participants' viewpoints.

Participants

Researchers choose participants based on expertise and experience related to the central business problem investigated to gain information for the research study (Palinkas et al., 2015). By establishing enough trust with participants, a researcher can easily collect information during the research process (Nunan, 2020). After approval from the IRB, I developed a working relationship with participants by encouraging participants to ask questions before and after the interview to clarify any doubts they might have had about the research process. Some participants may have more prominent information and provide quality data of a phenomenon when participants surpass eligibility criteria (Palinkas et al., 2015). I chose four U.S. commercial banking, loan, and savings association leaders in this study. I determined the participant's eligibility criteria, which were that participants held leadership roles in the retail banking, loan, and savings

association industry; worked for more than 3 years in the financial services industry in Puerto Rico; and held experience of implementing successful CSR strategies to improve organizational profitability.

One of the challenges that a researcher can face is obtaining access to participants (Amundsen et al., 2017). Vuban and Eta (2018) stated that researchers could easily access participants when receiving permission from a university or institution. To access participants, permission for research from an institution may be sufficient (Vuban & Eta, 2018). Komil-Burley (2021) stated that the researcher can settle choices by arranging with specific individuals or organizations to have access to research. The first step was to get approval for my IRB. The second step was to look for participants by finding companies involved in CSR programs. I went online to the Dun and Bradstreet's website and LinkedIn to find companies in the banking, loan, and savings association industry to identify four organizational leaders that successfully implemented CSR to improve profitability in Puerto Rico. Using the Dun and Bradstreet's website and LinkedIn, I clicked on the name of the company. I accessed the company's location and available contacts, such as CSR officers, associates, or similar titles. I contacted CSR leaders through phone or email.

Pervaiz et al. (2021) stated that a researcher could utilize snowball sampling to enlist participants for a research study. Through snowball sampling, participants can enroll other participants within their connection with explicit attributes, improving the chances of willingness to participate in a research study (Pervaiz et al., 2021). Izogo et al. (2020) stated that a researcher could improve the quality of information through snowball sampling. Using the snowball approach, I encouraged participants to refer me to participants with the same characteristics after an interview. I used purposive sampling followed by snowball sampling to get access to participants.

Stratmann et al. (2018) stated that invitation letters could increase participation in a study. McCaffery et al. (2019) noted that the control group received an enrollment set incorporating a customized invitation letter. I made a phone call and communicated to the CSR officer or leader holding a similar heading. During the phone call, I explained the purpose of my study, and I provided through my Walden email the informed consent along with the invitation letter form to all candidates demonstrating an interest in participating in the study. The leader agreed to participate by responding to the email "I consent". During this discussion, I explained participant's rights and responsibilities and answered any questions the participant had for me.

Kong et al. (2020) stated that building trust with participants takes time, compassion, and sharing life experiences. Zoom is a cloud-based video conferencing platform with unique characteristics that a researcher can use to collect data from interviews (Archibald et al., 2019). Firstly, I scheduled with participants the date and time of the meeting at their convenient time through Zoom or phone. Yin (2018) indicated that establishing trust with participants is essential to enhance honest responses in interviews. During the research process, I built trust with participants by offering information, support, and feedback during and following the interview process. In addition, an interviewer can use Zoom to conduct compelling interviews (Zupanic et al., 2020). I collected data from participants by recording the interview through phone and taking copious notes to add richness to the interview process.

Nunan (2020) stated that research participants could facilitate a researcher's data collection when the researcher can establish a working relationship of trust with participants. Moser and Korstjens (2018) stated that a researcher needs to urge participants to talk openly. By encouraging participants to ask questions or comment about the study, participants felt open to speaking. I was able to establish a working relationship of trust with participants.

Research Method and Design

Research Method

The three research methods are qualitative, quantitative, and the mixed-methods (Strijker et al., 2020). Qualitative researchers use open-ended questions to gain a deeper understanding of a phenomenon (Yin, 2018). I selected the qualitative method to understand the strategies leaders used in the commercial banking, loan, and savings association industry to implement a successful CSR program to improve profitability. Through semistructured interviews, I gained valuable information from participants' responses to increase my knowledge and understanding of the phenomenon under study. I had the flexibility to interact with the participants by asking clarifying questions and asking for specific examples to augment the interview approach. The qualitative method was appropriate for this study as I had the flexibility and creativity to understand

participants' thoughts, opinions, and motives related to the phenomenon under study.

A researcher that uses the quantitative method focuses on correlations and testing hypotheses (Lenger, 2019). Quantitative researchers involve the testing of ideas in their research study (Zyphur & Pierides, 2020). Measuring variables and testing hypotheses were not adequate to answer my research question; therefore, the quantitative method was not appropriate for this study. Sahin and Öztürk (2019) stated that the mixed-method research includes qualitative and quantitative methods. Gallant and Luthy (2020) noted that a mixed-method researcher could have numerous points of view to comprehend a phenomenon through the assortment of quantitative and qualitative information. The mixed-methods permits the researcher to collect both narrative and statistical data from participants. My intention was not to collect statistical data; therefore, I did not use the mixed methods approach in this study.

Research Design

A multiple case study involves the use of more than one case as the main source of data collected (Duff, 2014). Multiple case study researchers play a critical role in investigating and exploring a phenomenon. Yin (2018) indicated multiple case studies provide the researcher an opportunity to gain different perspectives from a number of different cases. The multiple case study design was appropriate in this study as my focus was to investigate and explore in-depth the phenomenon under study limited by place and time through participants' experiences.

Rodriguez and Hallas (2020) stated that researchers could acquire an in-depth comprehension of cultural impacts, values, and individual convictions through ethnographic studies and quality improvement projects. My main focus was not to obtain insights through a close exploration of cultural behavior within the organization and, therefore, the ethnographic design was not appropriate for this study. Researchers that use phenomenological design limit their investigation to lived experiences, believing these experiences hold the key to decision-making processes and successful business applications (Perryman et al., 2020). Some researchers use the phenomenological method to understand individuals' lived experiences (Perryman et al., 2020). The phenomenological method was not suitable for my research as my focus was not limited to individuals' lived experiences related to the phenomenon under study. My intent was to explore perspectives and review any supporting public documents and artifacts to gain a rich and robust understanding of successful CSR programs. Therefore, I used the qualitative multiple case study design to explore the business problem. In the process of data collection and analysis, Fusch and Ness (2015) stated that data saturation occurs when a researcher further collects and analyzes data but is unable to find new information or themes. I achieved data saturation in this study when I was unable to acquire new themes or ideas from additional data collection and analysis efforts.

Population and Sampling

In a multiple case study, the researcher can reach data saturation with a small sample size, such as six participants (Guest et al., 2006). Fusch and Ness (2015) stated

that a researcher can use the strategy to obtain in a short period of time a tremendous amount of data. In this qualitative multiple case study, the population was four commercial banking, loan, and savings association leaders, with experience in implementing a successful CSR program to improve profitability. These leaders were from different organizations in Puerto Rico. My small sample size was enough to achieve data saturation. I used purposive sampling followed by snowball sampling to seek out suitable participants meeting the criteria for interviews. Palinkas et al. (2015) stated that a researcher could recognize and identify rich data related to the phenomenon under investigation when using purposive sampling. Suri (2011) noted that a researcher could recognize rich information through key individuals through purposive sampling. When collecting information is intentional, a researcher is more likely to arrive at data saturation (Suri, 2011). I used the purposive sampling method followed by snowball sampling to select knowledgeable and experienced participants having successfully implemented strategies required to have a successful CSR program to improve profitability.

When the researcher stops recognizing any new themes, the researcher can achieve data saturation (Fusch & Ness, 2015). Suri (2011) stated that the researcher could arrive at data saturation when the researcher has a more exact or defined question. One essential objective of the study was to achieve data saturation. When I was unable to obtain new information from interviews, I achieved data saturation. I achieved data saturation by using interviews and the organizations' CSR reports. Yin (2018) underscored the importance of establishing criteria to select participants for a study to ensure all have similar business experiences and responsibilities that are aligned with the phenomenon under study. Yin (2018) stated the importance of establishing criteria to select participants for a study to ensure all have similar, aligned business experiences and responsibilities related to the phenomenon under investigation. The participants in this study met three criteria. The first two criteria were that the participants had to be leaders in the commercial banking, loan, and savings association industry and had to work for more than 3 years in the financial services industry in Puerto Rico. The third criterion was that leaders possessed experience in implementing successful CSR strategies to improve organizational profitability.

A researcher can use Zoom to create a virtual interview setting for participants and collect qualitative data (Archibald et al., 2019). By using Zoom, the researcher can have the ability to communicate in real-time with participants and record the interview process in a secured manner (Archibald et al., 2019). I used my phone for interviews. Participants responded to eight open-ended interview questions to help me answer the study's research question, and the interview time ranged between 20 to 30 minutes. I verified that the interview setting was appropriate by ensuring participants selected a room without distractions to conduct an interview. Participants confirmed the setting was appropriate and free from distractions. With participants' consent, I audio recorded the interview with my phone, transcribed the data for interpretation, applied member checking, and analyzed data. I ensured participants were uninterrupted for the duration of the interview and that they selected a comfortable place conducive to a quiet discussion. I asked participants to choose a room free from distractions.

Ethical Research

Informed consent is an integral part of ethical research in biomedical research (Weissinger & Ulrich, 2019). Love et al. (2020) stated that participants give researchers informed consent to participate in a study. Researchers have to ensure that compliance with the institution's ethical standards involves the study process and participants (Love et al., 2020). Through the consent form, I protected confidentiality and participants' rights. When the participants decided to participate in the study, they had to reply by email with the words "I consent." Yin (2018) explained the role of the consent form in providing the participant key information to make an informed decision about participating in the study, the expectations of participants, and how the information collected was protected. This information helped the participant to determine if they wanted to participate in the study. I received informed consent from participants via email before the interview, and I began the interview process after the approval of Walden University's IRB.

Without explaining the reasons, participants have the privilege to withdraw from the research study (Husband, 2020). As per the informed consent form, I discussed the voluntary nature of participating in this study and reminded participants of their right to withdraw at any point without penalty. Resnik (2015) stated that incentives might twist thinking, causing people to act against their inclinations. No incentives were provided to participants in this study.

When dealing with confidentiality, British scientists secured the identity of individuals in a research process through confidentiality (Surmiak, 2018). I had the responsibility to protect participants by maintaining confidentiality and professionalism when interacting with them. I informed the participants that data were confidential and kept strict security measures, such as having a password-protected folder on my computer and flash drive. I stored my digital data, such as consent forms, letters of invitation, banking website information, audio recordings, alphanumeric code sheets, and transcribed interviews in the electronic folder inside a flash drive and my computer. I stored physical copies together with my flash drive in a locked storage cabinet. Yin (2018) indicated a researcher must protect the integrity of data collected by storing data in a locked cabinet and on a password-protected computer. As a backup, I stored my research data on a flash drive, and I secured the flash drive in a locked storage cabinet, and I was the only person to have the key to open the box located in a secure place at my apartment.

Eraser, created by Heidi Computers, is a free software used in research to completely remove any data from a computer or laptop (Afrifa & Jones, 2020). Eraser 6.0 is an advanced software security tool for Microsoft Windows (Carlton & Kessler, 2012). After 5 years from the study's publication, I will remove all data containing participant personal identifiers in my laptop using Eraser 6.0. I will use Eraser 6.0 to remove all personal identifiers from my flash drive to protect participants' confidentiality. I will destroy the physical data by using a paper shredder.

Van den Boer et al. (2016) stated that alphanumeric codes include digits and letters. I used an alphanumeric code to identify participants to avoid using their names in my study. For example, I used the alphanumeric codes P1, P2, P3, and P4 for the participants and C1, C2, C3, and C4 for their corresponding organizations. The Walden IRB approval number is 05-23-22-0802720.

Data Collection Instruments

The researcher is the primary data collection instrument in qualitative case study investigations (Bearman, 2019). As the primary data collection instrument, I protected the integrity of the research by following an interview protocol to ensure all interviews were conducted in the same manner and sought supporting documentation, such as banking website information to strengthen the research. I took information from banking websites to augment the research process. I concluded the data collection with member checking to ensure the accuracy of my interpretation of participants' responses to interview questions. Qualitative researchers invest their energy in gathering and analyzing data from participants (Lanka et al., 2021). I analyzed data and will provide a summary of my findings to participants.

An interview protocol is a document that provides the step-by-step approach to setting up, conducting, and concluding the interview process to enhance the reliability of the interview process (Orbach et al., 2000; Schaeffer, 2021). Within the interview

protocol, I provided dialogue that I used with each participant to introduce the interview process, reconfirm each participant met the criteria to participate in the interview, the interview questions, and closing remarks I made to each participant. The interview protocol (see Appendix A) was the guidance of conducting the interview processes with participants. By using the interview protocol, I was more organized in collecting data from participants.

A researcher can video record and communicate with participants through the interview process using Zoom (Archibald et al., 2019). I recorded each interview. Before the interview, I asked participants' permission to start audio recording the meeting. If participants wanted to use Zoom, they were allowed to turn off their cameras anytime. If participants refused to be audio recorded, I was prepared to take handwritten notes; if participants refused to use Zoom and prefer the interview by phone, I was ready to conduct the interview by phone. I wanted to make each participant comfortable during the interview, and I offered them the opportunity to call me at a temporary phone number or email me if any questions arose before or after the interview. For the interview, participants preferred phone interview instead of the Zoom platform.

Interview questions are derived from the central research question and encapsulate most of the data collected by participants (Yin, 2018). My interview questions evolved from the central research question and provided opportunities for inputs related to specific aspects of the participants' daily activities that indicated strategic measures used. Campbell and Brauer (2020) stated that inspecting authoritative documentation and artifacts, making observations, and leading interviews are three basic approaches to gathering data. The banking website information I collected supported the central research question by providing evidence beyond interviews to reflect previous actions and outlining in detail how strategies were applied within the workplace.

Researchers can utilize member checking, returning research outcomes and dispersal, as a validity check and responsibility (Naidu & Prose, 2018). By affecting the direction of the study and guaranteeing that the investigated topics are in the interest of participants, a researcher can improve the legitimacy of the findings through the member checking process (Brear, 2019). Through member checking, I ensured that my interpretation of data was accurate. Participants had the opportunity to correct any inaccuracies found in my interpretations of their responses. I collected the data and member checked for accuracy; then, I used Yin's (2018) steps for data analysis. Limiting deception and error is the researcher's job when utilizing member checking (Varpio et al., 2017). Using triangulation, researchers can improve the legitimacy and exactness of the research findings (Greyson, 2018).

Data Collection Technique

Yin (2018) underscored the importance of using an interview protocol to guide the interview process. I followed an interview protocol (see Appendix A). The interview protocol consisted of eight open-ended interview questions. A researcher can obtain indepth participants' experiences and perspectives by using semistructured interviews (Rosenthal, 2016). I conducted semistructured interviews and captured subtle nuances through field notes. I triangulated the study by reviewing physical artifacts and used member checking to enhance the accuracy of interview data. The researcher can receive feedback from participants through the member checking technique (Caretta & Pérez, 2019). I did not receive feedback from participants to fix mistakes of interpretation because I did not make any mistakes in my interpretations. I used member checking to enhance the validity and reliability of the collected data.

The advantages of interviewing participants included having access to raw experiences exposed verbatim by participants. These verbal contexts are augmented through supporting documentation provided by participants, leading to a robust report that aids in answering the central research question (Carter et al., 2014; Naidu & Prose, 2018). Disadvantages of the interview process is the potential of bias reflected in the information collected, or the way the information is interpreted by the researcher (Greyson, 2018; Puyvelde, 2018). Following IRB approval, I collected data using semistructured interviews. I emailed participants the consent form for participants to review and affirm via email with the words "I consent" and asked for permission to audio record the conversation. An interview protocol is useful in ensuring consistency in the interviews which enhances the reliability of the interview process (Campbell & Brauer, 2020; Yin, 2018). I followed an interview protocol (see Appendix A). The interview protocol consisted of eight open-ended interview questions. One of the approaches to collecting data that a qualitative researcher can use is reviewing organizational documents and artifacts (Campbell & Brauer, 2020). For the researcher, documentations are an open-source of information, and the researcher can follow changes, improvements, and specific details (Bathmanathan et al., 2018). The use of documentation did not present any disadvantages in this study. Some researchers may have documentation bias in terms of being selective with data, and the organizational leaders can intentionally deny access to documentations (Yin, 2018). I asked corporate leaders for the CSR documents as part of my data collection technique.

Data Organization Technique

Surmiak (2018) underscored the importance of protecting the integrity of research through disciplined attention to secure storage of information for a period of no less than 5 years beyond the completion of the research. I created a code sheet in Microsoft Excel, and I assigned an alphanumeric code for each participant in my study to protect their identity. Dastyar et al. (2017) stated that using a password-protected computer, as well as a locked storage cabinet to limit access by others, is imperative to protect the integrity of research. I organized my data meticulously. To keep track of data, I created three electronic folders. In my first folder, I included the invitation letter and consent forms. In the second folder, I stored data according to participant codes. I created separate folders in the second folder for each participant with a unique password. These participants' folders included audio recordings, banking website information, and transcribed interviews. Each participants' folder had a unique alphanumeric code. The third folder

contained the organization's CSR reports. The three folders were in a password-protected folder on my computer and flash drive. I informed participants that the data were confidential, and I maintained strict security measures, such as storing data on a flash drive and storing the flash drive in a locked storage cabinet accessible only by me. I stored any hard copies of information collected in the locked storage cabinet.

Eraser 6.0 is an advanced software for Microsoft Windows (Carlton & Kessler, 2012). To eliminate all data with personal identifiers attached, Afrifa and Jones (2020) stated that researchers could use free software tools. Five years after the publication of my study, I will destroy all data containing personal identifiers of participants of the research, including hard copies and flash drives.

Data Analysis

Greyson (2018) stated that to enhance the legitimacy, validity, and exactness of the outcomes, triangulation is a helpful strategy. Castleberry and Nolen (2018) stated that qualitative researchers have to follow specific steps for data analysis. Yin (2018) provided five qualitative data analysis phases, which are (a) compiling, (b) disassembling, (c) reassembling, (d) interpreting, and (e) concluding.

The first phase is compiling (Yin, 2018). First, to compile data, the researcher conducts and records interviews, requests and reviews additional documentation and physical artifacts (Castleberry & Nolen, 2018). I compiled the data by using an interview protocol for consistency, a recorder to ensure accuracy, and field notes to capture subtle nuances. Second, to dissemble the data, Yin (2018) explained that dissembling the data

requires carefully reviewing the data for key terms, or sets of terms, that provide meaning and generate patterns of information from which to understand the data. I did not use Software programs such as NVivo, instead, I used Microsoft Word to identify patterns of repeated information in the text. Dissembling the data by coding key ideas adds credibility to the data analysis process by organizing the collected data with the purpose of generating understandable patterns of information (Yin, 2018). I used a coding system whereas I provided specific codes to frequently used, or strong terms or phrases, to capture key ideas exposed in the interview process. I did the same for supporting banking website information. Third, reassembling the data was a process of making connections within the coded information and clustering key ideas into related groups. This process assisted in providing meaning to the terms and passages in the data (Castleberry & Nolen, 2018; Williams & Moser, 2019).

Kaufmann and Riehle (2019) stated that the researcher could bring about a coding framework by assembling information and identifying the most perceptive piece of content. I rearranged the codes in order of significance to respond to the research question accurately. I categorized each theme by identifying key themes supporting the research question and examining the relationship among themes. The fourth phase is interpreting data (Yin, 2018) from information introduced as codes and clusters (Castleberry & Nolen, 2018). To grasp the convictions and experiences of participants, the researcher has to pull out key ideas within the data and begin correlating these pieces of data to each other (Castleberry & Nolen, 2018). After that, the researcher seeks patterns in the data (Castleberry & Nolen, 2018). Yin (2018) underscored the importance of alignment between all data sources and findings in research. To correlate data and ensure alignment throughout, I compared and contrasted the literature findings, the conceptual framework, and critical themes to have an in-depth understanding of the phenomenon under study. With the literature findings, I identified factors that organizational leaders needed to increase profitability through CSR programs.

The fifth phase is concluding, which is about answering the research question (Yin, 2018). Some researchers need to provide the step-by-step process of how they came to interpretations to other researchers (Castleberry & Nolen, 2018). I provided tables and a detailed description of codes and patterns that led me to themes. In this qualitative research study, I offered my interpretations supporting findings. During the fifth phase, I carefully examined the results of the findings.

Reliability and Validity

To increase reliability in the research results, the researcher may use methodological tactics (Noble & Smith, 2015). Baserer et al. (2016) stated that a researcher could achieve reliability, validity, credibility, and consistency of a research study. I achieved reliability and validity to enhance trustworthiness in my qualitative case study. I strengthened rigor, complexity, and profundity of comprehension for the research study.

Reliability

Spiers et al. (2018) stated that the root of reliability lies in data quality in qualitative research, where the researcher can show consistency throughout the research. Reliability is where other researchers can have the option to repeat the analysis when the researcher of the study provides the investigation process exhaustively (Johnson et al., 2020). Dependability is another term for reliability. I established reliability in my research study by providing in greater detail the examination process to reach the research results. I used the interview protocol, banking website information, and the process of data analysis for other researchers to repeat the research and arrive at similar conclusions. Methodological triangulation is a technique to collect data from multiple sources (Greyson, 2018). Mheen et al. (2006) utilized triangulation, member checking, and tenacious perception to meet the standard of credibility and reliability. To obtain dependability, I used methodological triangulation. Methodological triangulation is a process of reviewing data through different sources, including interviews, documentation, and physical artifacts (Fusch & Ness, 2015). I used member checking and physical artifacts to achieve methodological triangulation. I provided a summary of my interpretation of participant responses. By using member checking, I achieved dependability.

Validity

Researchers can establish validity by providing precise information about participants' experiences (Spiers et al., 2018). Researchers rely upon the truth, and some scholars could have various perspectives on establishing truth, leading to variance in how truth is interpreted and presented (FitzPatrick, 2019). I rigorously validated information during the research process. To improve the validity of my study, I used methodological triangulation as well as member checking. By using multiple sources, I improved the validity of the study.

While validating information, the researcher can show meticulousness during the research study (Cypress, 2017). Through multiple sources, a researcher can utilize triangulation to have broad viewpoints (Greyson, 2018). Through methodological triangulation, I had different perspectives, and I improved the validity of my study. I chose the best strategy in terms of collecting and analyzing data to obtain valid results. I rigorously checked the validity of the data.

Stewart et al. (2017) urged the utilization of credibility and trustworthiness to give direction to the improvement of meticulousness. Similarly, Moon (2019) stated that methodological triangulation could support data credibility. To ensure credibility, I conducted methodological triangulation. I used the methodological triangulation technique by obtaining information from physical artifacts and transcribed and interpreted interviews. By utilizing crosschecking, a researcher can archive cross-checking (Cypress, 2017). I compared banking website information and data interpretations after coding by cross-checking data. Another technique I used to establish credibility was member checking by holding a follow-up session via email with each participant to member check by giving my interpretation of participant's answers to

interview questions and asked each participant to verify the accuracy of my interpretation.

For readers to evaluate and see if results can be transferable to another context, the researcher has to give adequate details of the study procedures (Hadi & José Closs, 2015). As opposed to acquiring good information, thick and rich data alludes to data quality (Morse, 2015). To ensure transferability, I provided detailed descriptions of my study to help transfer my research to other contexts. To help establish transferability, I showed thick details of data collection, processes of analysis, and participants' criteria. I provided a detailed description of my research study as well as participants' viewpoints.

To set up confirmability, a researcher needs to give insights to the reader concerning the time and location of meetings, data analysis, and the conceptual framework (Baserer et al., 2016). Morse (2015) stated that triangulation enhances confirmability. To enhance confirmability, I reviewed participants' banking websites' information along with the member-checked interview data. I ensured that I had the information of location and time of each interview and the process of data analysis for other researchers to confirm my research study.

Transition and Summary

In Section 2, I restated the purpose statement and included the role of the researcher and participants, research method and design, population and sampling, ethical research, data collection instrument, data collection technique, data organization technique, data analysis, and reliability and validity. Section 3 includes the introduction,

presentation of findings, application to professional practice, implications for social change, recommendations for action, recommendations for further research, reflections, and conclusions.

Section 3: Application to Professional Practice and Implications for Change

Introduction

In this qualitative multiple case study, I aimed to discover strategies retail banking, loan, and savings association leaders used to implement successful CSR programs to enhance organizational profitability. Four retail banking, loan, and savings associations in Puerto Rico were chosen to share CSR program strategies to enhance profitability. Benefiting community residents with increased employment opportunities and an improved healthy natural environment might be implications for positive social change in communities. The findings in this study might help CSR leaders discover new strategies that can possibly work in their business area and might contribute to having a successful CSR program. I conducted methodological triangulation to enhance the validity and credibility of my study. Engaging communities in CSR activities improved profitability, improving business practices increased profitability, and strengthening organizational CSR for business profitability were strategies located in the recent findings. Internal and external stakeholders may benefit from the positive social change that CSR leaders produced through CSR activities.

Presentation of Findings

After receiving IRB approval, I interviewed four CSR directors in retail banking, loan, and savings associations. I reached saturation by interviewing four directors and stopped the interview process. I sent each participant the consent form and invitation letter through email. I followed the interview protocol and obtained the data through semistructured interviews and banking website information. After that, I identified strategies CSR leaders implemented for the community. Participants provided me with companies' websites to find CSR information related to my findings. During my data analysis, I used identifiers for each participant, such as P1, P2, P3, and P4 to protect confidentiality. I used banking websites and physical artifacts to verify and support my findings related to my CSR strategies. Table 1 includes the three strategies or themes that emerged from the interviews, physical artifacts, and banking websites. In Table 2, I present participants as P1, P2, P3, and P4 and include ways some participants agreed with using different and similar strategies for their CSR activities.

Table 1

711	1	a 1	n .	
Themes	and	Nuh_	\tra	t00105
Inchics	unu	Suv-	Sua	

Themes	Sub-Strategies
Engaging Communities in CSR Activities	Education, environment, sport, art and
Improved Profitability	music activities, medical aid, technology
-	for youth, and organizational reputation.
Improving Business Practices Increased	Project evaluation, economic collaboration
Profitability	to cooperatives, identifying needs, and
	producing empathy.
Strengthening Organizational CSR for	Employment opportunities for youth and
Business Profitability	elderly, wage increases, work motivation,
	and step by step task.

Table 2

CSR Strategies

Participants	Strategies
P1	Project evaluation, educational activities,
	environmental activities, technology for
	youth, CSR awareness, identifying needs,
	and satisfying needs.
P2	Project evaluation, educational activities,
	economic collaboration to cooperatives,
	sport activities, supporting arts, community
	empathy, identifying needs, and satisfying
	needs.
P3	Project evaluation, educational activities,
	economic collaboration to cooperatives,
	environmental activities, sport activities,
	medical aid, technology for youth,
	reputation (Be known), identifying needs,
	and satisfying needs.
P4	Employment opportunities for youth and
	elderly, wage increases, work motivation,
	educating new employee, and step by step
	work task.

Theme 1: Engaging Communities in CSR Activities Improved Profitability

The first theme identified was engaging communities in CSR activities improved profitability. P3 stated that by identifying the communities' emerging needs, CSR leaders are more likely to improve organizational reputation. Sports, art, music, educational, and environmental activities were some strategies P1, P2, and P3 used to engage communities in CSR activities. P1, P2, and P3 stated that external stakeholders were likely to participate in these activities with nonprofit organizations. P3 stated that when stakeholders in the community see that CSR leaders are doing CSR activities, CSR leaders are more likely to achieve a good organizational reputation and improve profitability. P1 and P3 stated that some cooperatives and financial organizations choose technology to increase CSR awareness among young people. P1 and P3 said that CSR leaders have to make an earnest effort to engage the youth in CSR activities as youth are the future of society to have a successful CSR program. The theme aligned with the research question as leaders from retail banking, loan, and savings association used several strategies to implement successful CSR programs to improve profitability. Customers who value CSR initiatives, may work to conduct business with companies with similar CSR interests, thus generating potential profits for those companies who promote and engage in CSR activities.

P1, P2, and P3 agreed that educational activities are crucial for the well-being of the community. P1 stated,

I believe that the most important thing about us to be able to instill social responsibility is education, it is to be able to relate to the individual both with the community and in turn with the partners and obviously model what social responsibility is and that it involves only one space but is everything that is around it, specifically the family the community and in turn that it can impact the country as such.

Furthermore, P2 mentioned,

Children, and older adults we assist and support the cooperatives [nonprofit organizations] with their own activities that they have identified, especially in its educational aspects . . . We support cooperatives a lot in educational issues that

are directed to the cooperative's own staff and to the general directors of the same, again our efforts are especially to cooperatives.

P1 and P3 mentioned environmental activities and sports activities as important parts of caring for the community's well-being. P1 stated, "we have seen the interest of the community to continue participating within those responsibilities, and [we] have been carrying out activities that have to do with the environment." Moreover P3 commented, "we sponsor school supplies, donations of caps, and recreation in green areas to provide society with the best options . . . Other activities where young people can compete [are] physical and educational activities."

Technology can attract young people. P1 stated,

One of them is a bit challenging to try to make people aware of social responsibility since there are many individuals who do not see it as part of [their lives], but see it as something internal, that is why for us it has been a bit difficult to involve a part of a generation which has grown up without seeing or knowing the importance of social responsibility, but in this last time we have identified that our current young generation, as the world is developing regarding the issue of social networks and communications, has made us be able to reach a little more and abound in this branch of social responsibility. That they not only see it as a theory but that it is something that is part of their lives.

P3 commented in regards to organizational reputation and medical aid. P3 expressed,

This gives us the opportunity that helps us make ourselves known to the population . . . But by helping individuals or entities we can have a better position in the community . . . medical aid as an important part of helping the community. P3 stated, that through the five K activities, organizational leaders raise funds to help people with transplant and medical operations. Some organizations can use medical aid to implement successful CSR programs to improve organizational profitability.

During my review of participants' organizational websites and physical artifacts, I found that P1 and P3 were assisting communities by facilitating forestry efforts by planting trees across Puerto Rico. P3 and P1 were helping college students to develop skills necessary to enter not only the labor market, but helping communities through sustainability efforts. P3 said that the corporate leaders raise funds for people in need of a transplant and medical surgery, and leaders offered activities for children, such as providing health fairs, securing sponsors for school supplies, securing donations of caps, and providing recreational green areas. P3 donated more than 500 boxes with school supplies to several organizations and schools across Puerto Rico and gave U.S.\$55,000 to 12 college students. P1 stated that seeing the receptivity and support of the community to the strategy implemented is a way to verify the effectiveness of CSR activities. Participants' organizational websites and physical artifacts aligned with P3 comments. P3 indicated they supported educational system initiatives to establish green areas.

P1 indicated that CSR initiatives and innovations, aligned with community activities, these activities led to increased customer transactions, leading to improved profitability. P1 and P3 achieved sustainability by utilizing technology to track their CSR actions. P3 stated that CSR practices are accentuated through social media, attracting the attention of customers, who in turn, participate in interactions and activities to support the company's CSR initiatives. P3 stated that many CSR initiatives include modernizing solar panels to reduce fuel and carbon dioxide. P3 stated that implementing technology can help organizational leaders to improve CSR activities every year. P3 said that the online platform can help organizational leaders to be known to the community. Also, P3 stated that CSR leaders demonstrate the company's goodwill toward society and engage communities to participate in CSR activities. P3 stated that CSR leaders are more likely to attract external stakeholder to the financial industry. In accordance with participants' organizational websites and artifacts and P3, attracting external stakeholders to the financial industry might lead to public interest, which led to organizational profitability.

Alignment With Current Literature

Srivastava (2019) stated that organizational profitability can have a connection to practicing CSR activities. Further, some organizational leaders showed CSR to have a variety of good outcomes (Nickerson et al., 2022). Moreover, since the internet and the arrangement of online CSR communities, individuals have been engaging in CSR activities (Wang et al., 2022). Stakeholders are more likely to engage in business with the organization when participating in CSR activities (Narayanan, 2022). Business leaders

may increase organizational profitability when stakeholders engage in CSR activities (Narayanan, 2022). Khojastehpour and Shams (2020) specified that CSR could be valuable for leaders when contributing to the ecological setting as leaders can captivate the attention on stakeholders. Corporate leaders can study the alignment between the CSR system and green suitability efforts (Hameed & Shoaib, 2020). An et al. (2022) discovered that banking leaders could make investment decisions by considering the environment as stakeholders can pay close attention on CSR leaders responsibility toward the ecology. Further, organizational leaders can contribute to CSR activities such as environmental and social compliance, charitable projects, and public goods related to products, which can lead stakeholders to collaborate with CSR leaders (Ramaiah et al., 2021). Through social and environmental measurement, customers or stakeholders can drive brand expansion and purchase determination by identifying themselves with the organizational leaders (Narayanan, 2022). Narayanan (2022) stated that business leaders can attract stakeholders through CSR activities to improve organizational profitability. In many ways, such as providing information about organizational strategies, inviting customers to participate in CSR events, educating customers through technology, and gaining their participation in social change, this involvement may lead to greater exchanges between customers and companies and generate profits.

Alignment With the Conceptual Framework

External stakeholders who engaged in CSR activities might have an indirect impact on the organization. Freeman (1984) stated that leaders can also affect broader

stakeholder groups. Instead of leaders focusing exclusively on shareholders, normative leaders are likely to show interest in several stakeholder groups through their moral aspect (Rose et al., 2018). Chapagain (2022) stated that stakeholders have a favorable inclination toward leaders who have ethical business practices. Also, organizational leaders are responsible for acting honestly with good intentions toward stakeholders and the environment (Nickerson et al., 2022). Leaders have the responsibility to have a normative approach, one of the critical components of stakeholder theory (Rose et al., 2018). The normative approach is the philosophy where leaders behave ethically toward stakeholders (Rose et al., 2018). Instrumental leaders focus on making a profit by showing unselfish actions toward stakeholders (De Gooyert et al., 2017), and descriptive leaders concentrate on relationship building (Weitzner & Deutsch, 2019). Theme 1 aligned with the conceptual framework of engaging communities in CSR activities improved profitability where leaders might show a normative approach toward external stakeholder groups. Profitability results from shared norms and values from an organization to its stakeholders, which generates trust and, in turn, leads to loyalty and increased exchange of goods between sellers and buyers, thus generating profits.

Theme 2: Improving Business Practices Increased Profitability

The second theme identified was that improving business practices increased profitability. The theme contained strategies P2 and P3 used to identify community needs and collaborate with economic resources to conduct CSR activities. P1, P2, and P3 stated that some financial institutions and leaders from nonprofit organizations worked together to identify community needs. P2 and P3 stated that nonprofit organizations bring the projects, recognize the community needs, and ask financial institutions for economic collaboration made these projects possible. P2 stated that producing empathy through CSR activities is the goal of some CSR projects. Theme 2 aligned with the research question as CSR leaders from retail banking, loan, and savings association used the strategies mentioned above to implement successful CSR programs to improve profitability.

P1, P2, and P3 agreed that evaluating cooperative projects before approval satisfied the community's needs. Also, identifying community needs was key to benefiting the community according to P1, P2, and P3. P2 and P3 decided to contribute with an economic collaboration after project approval, which might help cooperative leaders to aid community stakeholders in having a successful CSR program. P2 and P3 stated that CSR activities can draw attention to what the company is doing to create social change and that attention leads stakeholders to purchase products, which improves profitability.

P1 stated,

Within the tasks and responsibilities of the cooperative, we have assigned the education committee that develops activities together with the community leaders to identify the needs of the community and in turn, educate and create awareness in the social community of the social responsibility that is one of the values of the cooperative ... [We develop] activities together with the community leaders to

identify the needs of the community and in turn, educate and create awareness in the social community of the social responsibility that is one of the values of the cooperative.

Further, P2 stated,

This makes it easier for the bank to recognize that it actively and continuously supports the efforts of cooperatives, with economic purposes so that they can be fulfilled to develop and in positive terms in our community. since the bank is a very particular structure, since it operates and serves a specific group of institutions, which for a natural person is not visible since it works to be developed by a cooperative program, organized entity, who serves the community and this same is of benefit to the community in general . . . We evaluate and study the projects without having the resources available for it.

Furthermore, P3 stated,

We want to know in which projects individuals or institutions are going to handle money . . . Many of these projects had to go through a board that could approve those types of activities. Many times, we do not have full approval for individuals or entities . . . To improve the quality of life of those people who receive services from us. We provide you with security, and alternatives at the best cost in the market so that you can continue with your healthy financial life. Moreover, P2 stated,

No, really we as a company identifies the need, we identify projects that we want to support, we do not directly serve the society we do not implement a program, unlike the cooperative, which implement programs and have the needs of the particular community, the issue of developing such strategies corresponds to the cooperative . . . [We] must respond to make visible those efforts of social responsibility and publish them, because that leads them to generate and create empathy of the citizen.

P2 and P3 organizational websites and artifacts within the concept of CSR aligned with Theme 2, which was improving business practices increased profitability. Several banking websites and P2 and P3 support nonprofit organizations whose business proposals focus on science, technology, and math to influence the community. According to P2 and P3 organizational websites and artifacts, CSR leaders assist cooperative leaders with resources to benefit society; P2 and P3 stated that CSR leaders can be in a better position in society when exercising CSR activities. P2 stated that the financial institutions support meritorious or primordial programs, and the clients are all cooperatives, not individuals. P3 said that helping individuals and entities can put the financial institution in an advantageous place in society which can attract stakeholders to the company to engage in financial services that lead to organizational profitability. P3 organizational website did not disclose barriers concerning CSR. P1 stated that barriers to commitment had been a challenge as some leaders present a lack of responsibility toward

implementing CSR activities. P3 stated barriers can be atmospheric changes and pandemics.

Alignment With Current Literature

Sinthupundaja et al. (2019) stated that CSR activities can positively impact organizational profitability. Leaders who have particular skills in the area of social work or business can have a positive impact on satisfying community needs (Mansor et al., 2021). Further, leaders with social work and business skills play a crucial role by being problem solvers for the community (Mansor et al., 2021). Helping to solve community problems, innovating, and maintaining constant communication with community leaders is the responsibility of a CSR leader (Mansor et al., 2021). Song and Ferguson (2021) stated that altruistic values, empathy for social causes, a fulfilling experience of expertise, connectedness, and freedom of participating in CSR initiatives are all things that CSR leaders can communicate to attract stakeholders to the organization. Bhattacharya et al. (2020) stated that business leaders can improve organizational profitability through firm and CSR practices. Sigel (2021) stated that the increase in CSR programs positively affected society, consumers, business reputations, and revenues. Further, when stakeholders trust organizational leaders, stakeholders become loyal to the company and can increase organizational profitability (Ramaiah et al., 2021). Furthermore, leaders can have higher demands when investors feel motivated through CSR which can lead to organizational profitability (Ramaiah et al., 2021). Through higher installment for the company's products, consumers have higher self-esteem when they pay more for such

companies' items as they have done a great deed by participating in CSR activities which can generate organizational profitability (Narayanan, 2022).

Alignment With Conceptual Framework

Stakeholder theorists can better explain the CSR efforts of business leaders with several organizational goals (Chan et al., 2021). Internal and external stakeholders are essential for organizational survival (Vieira et al., 2022). Organizational leaders depend on stakeholders for the company's sustainability according to the stakeholder theory (Vitolla et al., 2019). Within the CSR field, leaders are responsible for leading the organization to more responsible practices which attract stakeholders that leads to organizational profitability (Pasko et al., 2021). Establishing a normative approach for the organization, organizational leaders are likely to be committed to stakeholders' interests and the organization (Rose et al., 2018). The responsibility for organizational leaders is to improve the quality of life of a community which can attract stakeholders to the organization (Retolaza et al., 2018). In accordance with the stakeholder theory, Freeman (2001) and Freeman (1984) stated that organizational leaders have the responsibility to sustain a full dedication to stakeholders. The theme aligned with the conceptual framework as improving business practices increased profitability was a strategy that covered internal and external stakeholders' interests through a normative approach to have successful CSR activities.

Theme 3: Strengthening Organizational CSR for Business Profitability

The third theme identified was strengthening organizational CSR for business profitability. The theme was essential and relevant as the main focus was on internal stakeholders. In this study, P4 stated that a CSR leader ensures organizational survival and increases profitability by implementing successful CSR programs. P4 stated that a CSR leader applies strategies to raise wages to produce work motivation among employees. The step-by-step tasks were a good strategy for the elderly and young people working at the organization according to P4. In addition, P4 mentioned that CSR leaders might perceive that those tasks may not be difficult to do. P4 stated that a CSR leader must make sure that employees feel comfortable in the work environment, as employee satisfaction is a priority in the context of organizational CSR. The theme aligned with the research question as CSR leaders from the retail banking and loan, and savings association industry use the previous strategies to implement successful CSR programs to improve profitability.

According to P4, some financial organizations may offer employment opportunities for young people and the elderly to help the community progress and have a better quality of life. P4 identified a strategy to help the youth and elderly in the community through employment opportunities to have a successful CSR to improve profitability. P4 focused on internal CSR to help communities to interact with the organization. P4 stated,

The creation of jobs for the elderly and giving employment opportunities to inexperienced young people . . . Marginal benefits, incentivize them with wage increases and always remind them of the good work they do . . . Change the mentality of someone who already knows the work and has to start educating someone of 0, which requires more time and dedication . . . Giving written information with data and a breakdown of how tasks should be performe . . . Employees grateful for opportunity and growth perform excellently . . . We continue to give opportunities that grow and can then obtain other employment opportunities that were their field.

P3's organizational websites and artifacts within the concept of CSR aligned with strengthening organizational CSR for business profitability. According to P3's organizational website, corporate leaders use fair treatment among employees by having equal access to opportunities within the organization. P4's organizational website provided that organizational leaders support fair remuneration for their employees, guaranteeing a chance to improve their organizational skills and enroll in courses for professional growth. P4 commented that employees are grateful for the opportunity the financial institution gives to the community. According to P2, when implementing CSR activities, organizational leaders take into account children and adults. P2 noted that corporate leaders considered children and the elderly when benefitting the community.

In contrast, P2 and P4 mentioned helping employees' children as part of their CSR planning. P1, P2, and P3's organizational websites and artifacts included information that some CSR leaders offered scholarships to employees' children who focus on science, technology, engineering, art, and math. According to P2, employees feel motivated to stay in the organization while their children benefit from the scholarships. P2 stated that some organizational CSR leaders involve the employees and the employees' family in CSR activities. P1 stated that social responsibility consists of the community, family, and country. In this study, P4 stated that a CSR leader plays an essential role in enhancing the well-being of the community.

Alignment With Current Literature

Strengthening organizational CSR requires companies to engage employees in CSR initiatives to demonstrate a wholistic commitment to in organizational practice toward social change (Wang et al., 2022). Employees who can demonstrate and communicate the value of CSR initiatives may help establish and sustain positive relationships with customers, which, in turn, may enhance profitability (Carlini & Grace, 2021). A firm's competitive advantage can last long when the organizational leaders have employees whose actions set the company apart in the industry through a commitment to social change (Wang et al., 2022). Further, adopting CSR in the organization can positively affect employees' mental and behavioral reactions to the corporate brand which can lead to organizational profitability (Carlini & Grace, 2021). Furthermore, leaders have to understand that awareness is part of employees' CSR brand recognition, where employees see the firm's CSR activities as accurate (Carlini & Grace, 2021). Some employees experience a strong or solid impact on organizational CSR truthfulness (Carlini & Grace, 2021).

Employee job satisfaction and optimized personal life positively connect with leaders establishing CSR policies at the workplace (Golob & Podnar, 2021). Ramaiah et al. (2021) stated that the value of trust and loyalty might tie to how employees see CSR initiatives. Also, Rinawiyanti et al. (2021) stated that employees, operations, and financial success have a positive connection to strategically integrating CSR. Employees can contribute to CSR practices integration for the organization (Testa et al., 2018). Boğan and Saruşık (2020) stated that employees and leaders can work together when organizational intentions are to meet stakeholders needs which can increase firm worth.

Alignment With Conceptual Framework

The conceptual framework aligned with the theme, which focused on internal stakeholders through a normative stakeholder theory. Internal CSR practices include employees and corporate governance, but external CSR practices refer to leaders' perceptions of the environment, community, and customers (Chapagain, 2022). In addition, employees who are satisfied with their organization can attract happy customers and influence organizational profitability and brand equity (Rew et al., 2020). Based on the stakeholder theory, corporate leaders can engage stakeholders in organizational activities (Peng & Isa, 2020). Freeman (1984) stated that focusing on stakeholders while engaging in organizational decision making processes, leaders can enhance business

performance. Encouraging leaders to have a normative approach toward stakeholders can benefit the value of the firm (Rose et al., 2018).

Application to Professional Practice

Findings of this study produced three key themes, which focus on actions leading to profitability. These actions, in this study, were generated through engaging communities, improving business practices, and strengthening organizational CSR efforts. If CSR leaders apply the three CSR strategies as part of the organizational decision-making process, they may experience increased profits. Corporate leaders depend on the internal stakeholders for business survival (Vieira et al., 2022). Still, external stakeholders, such as customers and shareholders, might contribute to constant business growth in profitability by establishing and communicating shared values and attracting customers to businesses who promote shared CSR values.

Engaging communities in the process of CSR is essential to building profitability. Regulatory bodies increasingly require the act of partnering between companies to ensure alignment in industries around a commitment to social change that permeates the collective values of society (Srivastava, 2019). Networking with communities about CSR initiatives strengthens relationships and builds solidarity in a broader commitment to change (Yim et al., 2019). This networking, in turn, has multiple benefits to companies including greater customer loyalty, greater referrals for products and services, and greater profitability, resulting from the shared values and established business relationships (Sigel, 2021). Improved business practices, such as working with external stakeholders to promote CSR initiatives, may attract purchasers, particularly if a company sets itself apart from others through unique services and benefits to customers or the larger society. Initiatives toward improved business practice may include creative and innovative product development, safe and conscientious manufacturing practices, and decreasing negative or harmful actions impacting global warming (Mahon et al., 2018). These initiatives may be critically important to customers and they may purposefully seek out businesses who apply CSR strategies. Strengthening organizational CSR efforts may generate profitability by engaging all employees in the process of social change (Ahmad et al., 2019). Educating employees by providing them with the tools or skills needed to perfect manufacturing practices, and informing customers of all efforts made to promote CSR values, may generate increased interest in the company, leading to improve profitability (Ahmad et al., 2019). Engaging employees requires establishing and supporting a CSR culture infusing CSR into all decision-making within the organization.

Implications for Social Change

The implications for positive social change of this study include contributing to the ecology where CSR leaders might have the responsibility to lessen the environmental effect by installing modern solar panels in various locations to reduce fuel and carbon dioxide emissions. CSR leaders might contribute to the creation of green areas. Medical aid and helping the educational system were also part of the contributions of this study. Raising funds for people who needed transplants and medical surgery was part of CSR leaders' responsibility regarding medical aid. Regarding the educational system, CSR leaders might help college students develop skills for the labor market and offered school supplies for children.

Guterres (2020) stated that carbon dioxide levels are still at historic highs despite the fact that some leaders try to reduce emission during the beginning of COVID-19 pandemic. Floods, droughts, apocalyptic flames, and storms are more common (Guterres, 2020). Leaders might use the strategy of engaging communities in CSR activities to benefit society and the ecology. Through the implementation of the CSR strategy, CSR leaders might have the commitment to identify community needs and collaborate with economic resources to have successful CSR activities to benefit the world. During the COVID-19 pandemic, some United Nations' leaders decided to improve the planet's ecology, restructure economics, combat climate change, and shape the future of society (Guterres, 2020). The European Union, United Kingdom, Japan, The Republic of Korea, and other countries, such as China and United States, committed to be socially responsible to have carbon neutrality by 2050 (Guterres, 2020). The results of this study might not only help businesses but community residents and the environment globally.

Recommendations for Action

CSR leaders might produce good outcomes through CSR activities. CSR leaders might reduce the negative results in the ecology and satisfy stakeholders' needs. The findings of this study might reveal the importance of increasing CSR awareness among external and internal stakeholders. I identified three recommendations that may benefit CSR leaders that can possibly satisfy internal and external stakeholders' needs. In addition, the three recommendations from this study might help CSR leaders and their decision-making process regarding CSR activities.

The first recommendation was about engaging communities in CSR activities to improve profitability. CSR leaders might communicate better with stakeholders who may be able to read and track CSR activities and possibly have some ideas of how organizational leaders satisfy stakeholders' needs. Stakeholders might see the transparency of CSR leaders when reporting CSR activities. External stakeholders may recognize the good intentions CSR leaders might have in some communities. Engaging communities in CSR activities might successfully communicate to shareholders who may contribute to organizational profitability.

The second recommendation was improving business practices to increase profitability. CSR leaders might have a well-informed decision regarding stakeholders' needs. CSR leaders may have a greater chance of stakeholders supporting the organizational strategy to improve corporate reputation. Through enhancing business practices, CSR leaders might develop ways to measure CSR results in each CSR activity. CSR leaders might obtain more significant results regarding stakeholders responding positively to CSR activities, organizational reputation, and profitability. The third recommendation was strengthening corporate CSR for business profitability. CSR leaders might benefit the community by offering employment opportunities where youth and the elderly may have the chance to be part of the organization. Employees may have the chance to collaborate in the organizational decision-making process regarding CSR activities.

Through this study's findings, business leaders might communicate and satisfy stakeholders' needs by using three successful CSR strategies to improve profitability. CSR leaders might select some strategies according to the needs of each stakeholder's group. Some strategies may need to be aligned with some stakeholder groups. Still, CSR leaders might have strategies with excellent results in the study's geographical area, Puerto Rico. I will disseminate the results of my research through scholarly journals and CSR leaders in the area of Puerto Rico. The results of my study might help CSR leaders in the United States.

Recommendations for Further Research

I triangulated data from physical artifacts and the data collected from the semistructured interviews, which was rich in information. I had two limitations in having more information about CSR activities. Firstly, participants might not honestly answered the questions in the interview while interviewees were instructed to provide honest responses. One recommendation for future researchers is to include firms in nonprofit organizations and collect data from participants that did not have an executive title. Secondly, the findings are not transferable to all organizations in all locations. Still, future researchers can extend the geographical locations to other areas of the United States, as CSR is an international topic. In other regions, future researchers may use the strategies in this study in different areas of the United States. I do recommend using quantitative and mixed method, as there may be a need to investigage relationships and test hypotheses. A quantitative study may expose numeric variance through crossindustry investigations to understand the need for, or impact of, CSR strategies. I suggested the qualitative method as researchers need to expand beyond live experiences of CSR leaders to include their perspective and opinions on CSR strategies.

Reflections

During my doctoral journey, I faced challenges with my full-time job and completing my doctoral program, but I succeeded by taking any time I had to invest in my research. I was responsible for sticking with my interview protocol and remaining loyal and ethical to what I wrote in the interview protocol. I did not know that banks and savings and loan associations did not directly implement external CSR activities toward communities. I learned that they support nonprofit organizations through monetary collaboration so that nonprofit organizations can do external CSR activities. In this study, the CSR leaders in the financial organizations evaluated the projects before the economic cooperation. According to my findings, some CSR leaders, in representing their financial institutions, were offering financial services as a way of helping the community to make better economic choices in terms of personal finance. They helped adults and young people that need to open savings accounts or other investment options. Stakeholders might not perceive CSR leaders as wanting to take advantage from the community. CSR leaders did not do external CSR activities directly as they did not want to be perceived as having advantageous intentions over stakeholders, which was not the leaders' intention.

In my data collection process, CSR leaders were busy, which challenged me to constantly insist every day until they had time to participate in my study voluntarily. Most customer service agents did not know or even hear about CSR activities or CSR leaders. Sometimes, they did not know if their organization had a sustainability leader. I had communications with some leaders from different departments to help me locate the CSR director. Finally, I found several CSR directors and reached data saturation. I did not have any personal biases or preconceived ideas about the research topic or CSR directors, as I did not have any work experience in CSR activities in a professional setting.

Conclusion

The conclusions of my findings might help CSR leaders from the banking, loan, and savings association industry to have a positive social change in their community. CSR leaders might use the strategies found in this study to create a healthy relationship with stakeholders and improve organizational profitability. Internal and external stakeholders were necessary for the success of an organization, but business leaders depended on internal stakeholders to ensure corporate survival. In this study, I found strategies for external and internal stakeholders which might help other CSR organizations to improve profitability.

Some organizations want to improve profitability and identify community's needs. By implementing the strategies found in my study, CSR leaders might have the advantage of improving not only profitability but organizational reputation. External and

internal stakeholders might contribute to the wellbeing of a business. CSR leaders may have to maintain a clear and honest communication with both stakeholders' groups regarding CSR activities. By applying these strategies in the organization, stakeholders might have the opportunity to participate in the improvement of their own society. CSR leaders might produce a positive impact not only in terms of financial returns but also on society.

References

Afrifa, I., & Jones, A. (2020). An evaluation of data erasing tools. *Journal of Digital Forensics, Security & Law, 15*(1), 1-20. https://doi.org/10.15394/jdfsl.2020.1615

Ahmad, I., Donia, M. B. L., & Shahzad, K. (2019). Impact of corporate social responsibility attributions on employees' creative performance: The mediating role of psychological safety. *Ethics & Behavior*, 29(6), 490-509. https://doi.org/10.1080/10508422.2018.1501566

- Akisik, O., & Gal, G. (2017). The impact of corporate social responsibility and internal controls on stakeholders' view of the firm and financial performance.
 Sustainability Accounting, Management and Policy Journal, 8(3), 246-280.
 https://doi.org/10.1108/sampj-06-2015-0044
- Alikaj, A., Nguyen, C. N., & Medina, E. (2017). Differentiating the impact of CSR strengths and concerns on firm performance: An investigation of MNEs and US domestic firms. *Journal of Management Development*, *36*(3), 401-409. https://doi.org/10.1108/jmd-04-2016-0058
- Amundsen, D. L., Msoroka, M., & Findsen, B. (2017). "It's a case of access." The problematics of accessing research participants. *Waikato Journal of Education*, 22(4), 5-17. <u>https://doi.org/10.15663/wje.v22i4.425</u>
- An, J., Di, H., & Yao, M. (2022). Stakeholder governance and the CSR of banks: An analysis of an internal governance mechanism based on game theory. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 13, 1–3. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2022.918290</u>

- Anabo, I. F., Elexpuru-Albizuri, I., & Villardón-Gallego, L. (2019). Revisiting the Belmont Report's ethical principles in internet-mediated research: Perspectives from disciplinary associations in the social sciences. *Ethics and Information Technology*, 21(2), 137-149. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10676-018-9495-z</u>
- Anwar, Z., & Aziz, B. (2019). Does corporate governance stimulate firm performance?
 Assessing corporate governance practices towards social welfare. *New Horizons*, *13*(1), 107–126. <u>https://doi.org/10.2.9270/NH.13.1(19).07</u>
- Archibald, M. M., Ambagtsheer, R. C., Casey, M. G., & Lawless, M. (2019). Using Zoom videoconferencing for qualitative data collection: Perceptions and experiences of researchers and participants. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, 18, 1–8. https://doi.org/10.1177/1609406919874596
- Arouri, M., & Pijourlet, G. (2017). CSR performance and the value of cash holdings: International evidence. *Journal of Business Ethics*, 140(2), 263-284. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10551-015-2658-5</u>
- Assaf, A. G., Josiassen, A., Ahn, J. S., & Mattila, A. S. (2017). Advertising spending, firm performance, and the moderating impact of CSR. *Tourism Economics*, 23(7), 1484–1495. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1354816617704739</u>

Au-Yong, C. P., Ali, A. S., Ahmad, F., & Chua, S. J. L. (2017). Influences of key stakeholders' involvement in maintenance management. *Property Management*, 35(2), 217-231. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/pm-01-2016-0004</u>

- Babiak, K., & Kihl, L. A. (2018). A case study of stakeholder dialogue in professional sport: An example of CSR engagement. *Business and Society Review*, 123(1), 119-149. https://doi.org/10.1111/basr.12137
- Bacha, S., & Ajina, A. (2019). CSR performance and annual report readability: Evidence from France. Corporate Governance: The International Journal of Business in Society, 20(2), 201–215. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/cg-02-2019-0060</u>
- Barakat, S. R., & Wada, E. K. (2021). Stakeholder theory in the hospitality field: Insights drawn from a systematic literature review. *Hospitality & Society*, 11(2), 183–207. <u>https://doi.org/10.1386/hosp_00031_1</u>
- Baserer, D., Baserer, Z., & Akcan, A. T. (2016). Ethical principles and violations in academy: A qualitative study. *Journal of Higher Education and Science*, 6(2), 242–251. <u>https://doi.org/10.5961/jhes.2016.160</u>
- Bathmanathan, V., Rajadurai, J., & Sohail, M. S. (2018). Generational consumer patterns:
 A document analysis method. *Global Business and Management Research*, 10(3), 958–970.

https://www.researchgate.net/publication/329736689_Generational_Consumer_Pa tterns_A_document_Analysis_Method

Bearman, M. (2019). Focus on methodology: Eliciting rich data: A practical approach to writing semi-structured interview schedules. *Focus on Health Professional Education: A Multi-Professional Journal*, 20(3), 1–11. <u>https://doi.org/10.11157/fohpe.v20i3.387</u>

- Benlemlih, M., & Bitar, M. (2018). Corporate social responsibility and investment efficiency. *Journal of Business Ethics*, 148(3), 647–671. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10551-016-3020-2
- Bernal-Conesa, J. A., Briones-Peñalver, A. J., & Nieves-Nieto, C. (2017). Impacts of the CSR strategies of technology companies on performance and competitiveness. *Tourism & Management Studies*, 13(4), 73–81.

https://doi.org/10.18089/tms.2017.13408

- Bhattacharya, A., Good, V., Sardashti, H., & Peloza, J. (2020). Beyond warm glow: The risk-mitigating effect of corporate social responsibility (CSR). *Journal of Business Ethics*, 171(2), 317–336. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10551-020-04445-0</u>
- Bocquet, R., Le Bas, C., Mothe, C., & Poussing, N. (2017). CSR, innovation, and firm performance in sluggish growth contexts: A firm-level empirical analysis. *Journal of Business Ethics*, *146*(1), 241–254. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10551-015-2959-8
- Boğan, E., & Sarıışık, M. (2020). Organization-related determinants of employees' CSR motive attributions and affective commitment in hospitality companies. *Journal of Hospitality and Tourism Management*, 45, 58–66.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhtm.2020.07.004

Bommaraju, R., Ahearne, M., Krause, R., & Tirunillai, S. (2019). Does a customer on the board of directors affect business-to-business firm performance? *Journal of Marketing*, 83(1), 8–23. <u>https://doi.org/10.4135/9781529718331</u>

- Brear, M. (2019). Process and outcomes of a recursive, dialogic member checking approach: A project ethnography. *Qualitative Health Research*, 29(7), 944–957. https://doi.org/10.1177/1049732318812448
- Brulhart, F., Gherra, S., & Quelin, B. V. (2019). Do stakeholder orientation and environmental proactivity impact firm profitability? *Journal of Business Ethics*, 158(1), 25–46. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10551-017-3732-y</u>
- Campbell, J. L. (2018). 2017 Decade award invited article reflections on the 2017 decade award: Corporate social responsibility and the financial crisis. *Academy of Management Review*, 43(4), 546–556. <u>https://doi.org/10.5465/amr.2018.0057</u>
- Campbell, M. R., & Brauer, M. (2020). Incorporating social-marketing insights into prejudice research: Advancing theory and demonstrating real-world applications. *Perspectives on Psychological Science*, *15*(3), 608–629. https://doi.org/10.1177/1745691619896622
- Caretta, M. A., & Pérez, M. A. (2019). When participants do not agree: Member checking and challenges to epistemic authority in participatory research. *Field Methods*, 31(4), 359–374. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1525822x19866578</u>
- Carlini, J., & Grace, D. (2021). The corporate social responsibility (CSR) internal branding model: Aligning employees' CSR awareness, knowledge, and experience to deliver positive employee performance outcomes. *Journal of Marketing Management*, *37*(7-8), 732–760.

https://doi.org/10.1080/0267257X.2020.1860113

- Carlton, G., & Kessler, G. (2012). Identifying trace evidence from target-specific data, wiping application software. *Journal of Digital Forensics, Security & Law*, 7(2), 113–142. https://doi.org/10.15394/jdfsl.2012.1122
- Carter, N., Bryant-Lukosius, D., DiCenso, A., Blythe, J., & Neville, A. J. (2014). The use of triangulation in qualitative research. *Oncology Nursing Forum*, 41(5), 545–547. <u>https://doi.org/10.1188/14.ONF.545-547</u>
- Částek, O., & Cenek, M. (2017). A relationship between stakeholder management and business performance in the Czech Republic. *Managing Global Transitions*, *15*(2), 167–207. <u>https://doi.org/10.26493/1854-6935.15.187-207</u>
- Castleberry, A., & Nolen, A. (2018). Thematic analysis of qualitative research data: Is it as easy as it sounds? *Currents in Pharmacy Teaching & Learning*, 10(6), 807–815. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cptl.2018.03.019
- Chalmers, D. M. (1959). The muckrakers and the growth of corporate power: A study in constructive journalism. *The American Journal of Economics and Sociology*, 18(3), 295–311. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1536-7150.1959.tb00326.x</u>
- Chan, S. H., Creel, T. S., Song, Q., & Yurova, Y. V. (2021). Does CSR reporting indicate strong corporate governance? *International Journal of Accounting & Information Management, 29*(1), 27–42. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/ijaim-07-2020-0099</u>
- Chapagain, B. R. (2022). The effects of internal, external and aggregated CSR practices on the firm's reputation and profitability. *Rajagiri Management Journal*, 16(2), 118–130. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/RAMJ-12-2020-0070</u>

- Chijoke-Mgbame, A. M., Mgbame, C. O., Akintoye, S., & Ohalehi, P. (2019). The role of corporate governance on CSR disclosure and firm performance in a voluntary environment. *Corporate Governance: The International Journal of Business in Society*, 20(2), 294–306. https://doi.org/10.1108/cg-06-2019-0184
- Costa, M., & Torrecchia, P. (2018). The concept of value for CSR: A debate drawn from Italian classical accounting. *Corporate Social Responsibility and Environmental Management*, 25(2), 113–123. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/csr.1443</u>
- Cypress, B. S. (2017). Rigor or reliability and validity in qualitative research. *Dimensions* of Critical Care Nursing, 36(4), 253–263.

https://doi.org/10.1097/dcc.00000000000253

- Dastyar, B., Kazemnejad, H., Sereshgi, A. A., & Jabalameli, M. A. (2017). Using data mining techniques to develop knowledge management in organizations: A review. *Journal of Engineering, Project & Production Management, 7*(2), 80–89. <u>https://doi.org/10.32738/jeppm.201707.0004</u>
- Davis, J. L., Alibašić, H., & Norris, S. (2018). Corporate leadership in sustainability: A green ranking performance-based approach to understanding the corporate social responsibility (CSR) and positive marketing impact. *Creighton Journal of Interdisciplinary Leadership*, 4(1), 3–16. <u>http://hdl.handle.net</u>

Davis, K. (1960). Can business afford to ignore social responsibilities? *California Management Review*, 2(3), 70–76. <u>https://doi.org/10.2307/41166246</u>

- De Gooyert, V., Rouwette, E., van Kranenburg, H., & Freeman, E. (2017). Reviewing the role of stakeholders in operational research: A stakeholder theory perspective. *European Journal of Operational Research*, 262(2), 402–410. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejor.2017.03.079
- Duff, P. A. (2014). Case study research on language learning and use. *Annual Review of Applied Linguistics*, *34*, 233–255. <u>https://doi.org/10.1017/s0267190514000051</u>
- El-Kassar, A.-N., Canaan Messarra, L., & El-Khalil, R. (2017). CSR, organizational identification, normative commitment, and the moderating effect of the importance of CSR. *The Journal of Developing Areas*, 51(3), 409–424. https://doi.org/10.1353/jda.2017.0081
- FitzPatrick, B. (2019). Validity in qualitative health education research. *Currents in Pharmacy Teaching and Learning*, 11(2), 211–217.
 <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cptl.2018.11.014</u>
- Francis, B., Hasan, I., Liu, L., & Wang, H. (2017). Employee treatment and contracting with bank lenders: An instrumental approach for stakeholder management. *Journal of Business Ethics*, 158(4), 1029–1046. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10551-</u> 017-3722-0
- Freeman, I., & Hasnaoui, A. (2010). The meaning of corporate social responsibility: The vision of four nations. *Journal of Business Ethics*, 100(3), 419–443.
 <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10551-010-0688-6</u>

Freeman, R. E. (1984). Strategic management: A stakeholder approach. Pitman.

https://books.google.com

Freeman, R. E. (2001). A stakeholder theory of the modern corporation. Perspectives in Business Ethics Sie, 3, 38–48. <u>http://academic.udayton.edu</u>

Freeman, R. E. (2017). Five challenges to stakeholder theory: A report on research in progress. *Business and Society 360*(1), 1–20. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/s2514-175920170000001</u>

- Freudenreich, B., Lüdeke-Freund, F., & Schaltegger, S. (2020). A stakeholder theory perspective on business models: Value creation for sustainability. *Journal of Business Ethics*, 166(1), 3–18. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10551-019-04112-z</u>
- Friesen, P., Kearns, L., Redman, B., & Caplan, A. L. (2017). Rethinking the Belmont Report? American Journal of Bioethics, 17(7), 15–21. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/15265161.2017.1329482</u>
- Fusch, P., Fusch, G. E., & Ness, L. R. (2018). Denzin's paradigm shift: Revisiting triangulation in qualitative research. *Journal of Social Change*, 10(1), 19–32. <u>https://doi.org/10.5590/josc.2018.10.1.02</u>
- Fusch, P. I., & Ness, L. (2015). Are we there yet? Data saturation in qualitative research. *The Qualitative Report*, 20(9), 1408–1416. <u>https://doi.org/10.46743/2160-</u> <u>3715/2015.2281</u>

- Gabbidon, K., & Chenneville, T. (2021). Strategies to minimize further stigmatization of communities experiencing stigma: A guide for qualitative researchers. *Stigma and Health*, 6(1), 32–42. https://doi.org/10.1037/sah0000280
- Galant, M. (2017). The stakeholders theory as a starting point for the critique of corporate social responsibility. *Prace Naukowe Uniwersytetu Ekonomicznego We Wrocławiu*, 464, 31–42. <u>https://doi.org/10.15611/pn.2017.464.03</u>
- Gallant, D. J., & Luthy, N. (2020). Mixed-methods research in designing an instrument for consumer-oriented evaluation. *Journal of MultiDisciplinary Evaluation*, 16(34), 21–43. <u>https://journals.sfu.ca</u>
- Golob, U., & Podnar, K. (2021). Corporate marketing and the role of internal CSR in employees' life satisfaction: Exploring the relationship between work and non-work domains. *Journal of Business Research*, 131, 664–672.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbusres.2021.01.048
- Gong, G., Huang, X., Wu, S., Tian, H., & Li, W. (2021). Punishment by securities regulators, corporate social responsibility and the cost of debt. *Journal of Business Ethics*, 171(2), 337–356. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10551-020-04438-z</u>
- Graham, S. (2020). The influence of external and internal stakeholder pressures on the implementation of upstream environmental supply chain practices. *Business & Society*, 59(2), 351–383. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0007650317745636</u>

- Greyson, D. (2018). Information triangulation: A complex and agentic everyday information practice. *Journal of the Association for Information Science and Technology*, 69(7), 869–878. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/asi.24012</u>
- Guest, G., Bunce, A., & Johnson, L. (2006). How many interviews are enough? An experiment with data saturation and variability. *Field Methods*, 18(1), 59–82. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1525822x05279903</u>
- Guterres, A. (2020, December 24). *Carbon neutrality by 2050: The world's most urgent mission*. United Nations Secretary-General. <u>https://www.un.org</u>
- Hadi, M. A., & José Closs, S. (2015). Ensuring rigor and trustworthiness of qualitative research in clinical pharmacy. *International Journal of Clinical Pharmacy*, 38(3), 641–646. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11096-015-0237-6</u>
- Hahn, T., Figge, F., Pinkse, J., & Preuss, L. (2018). A paradox perspective on corporate sustainability: Descriptive, instrumental, and normative aspects. *Journal of Business Ethics*, 148(2), 235–248. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10551-017-3587-2</u>
- Hameed, R., & Shoaib, M. (2020). Green corporate social responsibility (GCSR): Past trends and future research agenda. *Pakistan Journal of Social Sciences (PJSS)*, 40(3), 1369–1383. <u>https://media.teckiz.com</u>
- Harrison, J. S., & Wicks, A. C. (2021). Harmful stakeholder strategies. Journal of Business Ethics, 169(3), 405–419. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10551-019-04310-9</u>
- Haski-Leventhal, D., Roza, L., & Meijs, L. (2017). Congruence in corporate social responsibility: Connecting the identity and behavior of employers and

employees. Journal of Business Ethics, 143(1), 35-51.

https://doi.org/10.1007/s10551-015-2793-z

- Hayibor, S. (2017). Is fair treatment enough? Augmenting the fairness-based perspective on stakeholder behaviour. *Journal of Business Ethics*, 140(1), 43–64. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10551-015-2665-6</u>
- Huml, M. R., Hambrick, M. E., Hums, M. A., & Nite, C. (2018). It's powerful, legitimate, and urgent, but is it equitable? Stakeholder claims within the attributes of stakeholder salience in sport. *Journal of Sport Management*, 32(3), 243–256. https://doi.org/10.1123/jsm.2017-0192
- Husband, G. (2020). Ethical data collection and recognizing the impact of semistructured interviews on research respondents. *Education Sciences*, 10(8), 1–12. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/educsci10080206</u>
- Izogo, E. E., Jayawardhena, C., & Adegbola, E. A. (2020). Creating particularized trust in e-retailers through experiential value and generalized trust. *Journal of Strategic Marketing*, 28(1), 16–38. https://doi.org/10.1080/0965254X.2018.1482944
- Jacobs, D., & Kalbers, L. P. (2019). The Volkswagen diesel emissions scandal and accountability. *CPA Journal*, 89(7), 16–21. <u>https://www.cpajournal.com</u>
- Jeong, K. H., Jeong, S. W., Lee, W. J., & Bae, S. H. (2018). Permanency of CSR activities and firm value. *Journal of Business Ethics*, 152(1), 207–223. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10551-016-3273-9</u>

- Jiang, W., Wang, A. X., Zhou, K. Z., & Zhang, C. (2020). Stakeholder relationship capability and firm innovation: A contingent analysis. *Journal of Business Ethics*, 167(1), 111–125. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10551-019-04161-4
- Jiao, L., Harrison, G., Dyball, M., & Chen, J. (2017). CEO values, stakeholder culture, and stakeholder-based performance. *Asia Pacific Journal of Management*, 34(4), 875–899. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10490-017-9506-3</u>
- Johnson, J. L., Adkins, D., & Chauvin, S. (2020). A review of the quality indicators of rigor in qualitative research. *American Journal of Pharmaceutical Education*, 84(1), 138–146. <u>https://doi.org/10.5688/ajpe7120</u>
- Johnson, R. B., Russo, F., & Schoonenboom, J. (2019). Causation in mixed-methods research: The meeting of philosophy, science, and practice. *Journal of Mixed-Methods Research*, 13(2), 143–162. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1558689817719610</u>
- Jones, T. M., Harrison, J. S., & Felps, W. (2018). How applying instrumental stakeholder theory can provide sustainable competitive advantage. Academy of Management Review, 43(3), 371–391. <u>https://doi.org/10.5465/amr.2016.0111</u>
- Karagiozis, N. (2018). The complexities of the researcher's role in qualitative research: The power of reflexivity. *International Journal of Interdisciplinary Educational Studies*, 13(1), 19–31. <u>https://doi.org/10.18848/2327-011x/cgp/v13i01/19-31</u>
- Kaufmann, A., & Riehle, D. (2019). The QDAcity-RE method for structural domain modeling using qualitative data analysis. *Requirements Engineering*, 24(1), 85–102. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s00766-017-0284-8</u>

- Khojastehpour, M., & Shams, S. M. R. (2020). Addressing the complexity of stakeholder management in international ecological setting: A CSR approach. *Journal of Business Research*, 119, 302–309. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbusres.2019.05.012</u>
- Koehler, I., & Raithel, S. (2018). Internal, external, and media stakeholders' evaluations during transgressions. *Corporate Communications: An International Journal,* 23(4), 512–527. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/ccij-10-2017-0096</u>
- Koehn, D. (2005). Transforming our students: Teaching business ethics post-Enron.
 Business Ethics Quarterly, 15(1), 137–151. <u>https://doi.org/10.5840/beq20051517</u>
- Komil-Burley, D. (2021). Conducting research in authoritarian bureaucracies: Researcher positionality, access, negotiation, cooperation, trepidation, and avoiding the influence of the gatekeepers. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, 20, 1– 10. https://doi.org/10.1177/1609406921996862
- Kong, A. C., Sousa, M. S., Ramjan, L., Dickson, M., Goulding, J., Gwynne, K., Talbot, F., Jones, N., Srinivas, R., & George, A. (2020). "Got to build that trust": The perspectives and experiences of Aboriginal health staff on maternal oral health. *International Journal for Equity in Health*, *19*(1), 1–12.

https://doi.org/10.1186/s12939-020-01301-5

Kumar, K., Boesso, G., & Michelon, G. (2016). How do strengths and weaknesses in corporate social performance across different stakeholder domains affect company performance? *Business Strategy and the Environment*, 25(4), 277–292. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/bse.1874</u>

- Kumar, N., & Kumar, P. (2019). The Impact of CG and CSR index on profitability. *IUP Journal of Corporate Governance*, 18(2), 39–59.
- Lanka, E., Lanka, S., Rostron, A., & Singh, P. (2021). Why we need qualitative research in management studies. *RAC - Revista de Administração Contemporânea*, 25(2), 1–7. https://doi.org/10.1590/1982-7849rac2021200297.en
- Latapí Agudelo, M. A., Jóhannsdóttir, L., & Davídsdóttir, B. (2019). A literature review of the history and evolution of corporate social responsibility. *International Journal of Corporate Social Responsibility*, *4*(1), 1–23.

https://doi.org/10.1186/s40991-018-0039-y

Lenger, A. (2019). The rejection of qualitative research methods in economics. *Journal of Economic Issues*, 53(4), 946–965.

https://doi.org/10.1080/00213624.2019.1657748

- Love, E., Salinas, T. C., & Rotman, J. D. (2020). The ethical standards of judgment questionnaire: Development and validation of independent measures of formalism and consequentialism. *Journal of Business Ethics*, 161(1), 115–132. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10551-018-3937-8</u>
- Lu, Y., Cahan, S., & Ma, D. (2019). Is CSR performance related to disclosure tone in earnings announcements? *Accounting Research Journal*, 32(2), 129–147. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/arj-05-2016-0059</u>

- Mahon, J. F., Heugens, P. P. M. A. R., & McGowan, R. A. (2018). Blending issues and stakeholders: In pursuit of the elusive synergy. *Journal of Public Affairs*, 18(3), 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1002/pa.1635
- Maidin, S. S., & Rahman, L. A. (2020). The development of interview protocol for micro sourcing challenges in Malaysia. *PalArch's Journal of Archaeology of Egypt/Egyptology*, 17(7), 8640–8649. <u>https://www.archives.palarch.nl</u>
- Mansor, F., Hashim, H., Mohamad, A., Azer, I., & Azudin, M. Z. M. (2021).
 Understanding community needs for better corporate social responsibility in
 Pulau Pinang and its educational implications. *Intellectual Discourse, 29*(2), 333–357. <u>https://journals.iium.edu.my</u>
- Marino, L. (2020). Commentary: A Belmont Report for animals? Rights or welfare? *Cambridge Quarterly of Healthcare Ethics*, 29(1), 67–70. <u>https://doi.org/10.1017/s0963180119000793</u>
- Martínez, S. S., & Mesa, A. P. (2021). An in-depth look at the status of environmental financial accounting in Mexico from the point of view of stakeholder theory: Myth or reality? *Review of Business Management*, 23(2), 318–336. https://doi.org/10.7819/rbgn.v23i2.4107

Matuszak, Ł., & Różańska, E. (2017). An examination of the relationship between CSR disclosure and financial performance: The case of polish banks. *Journal of Accounting and Management Information Systems*, 16(4), 522–533. <u>https://doi.org/10.24818/jamis.2017.04005</u> McCaffery, J., Mitchell, A., Fairhurst, C., Cockayne, S., Rodgers, S., Relton, C., & Torgerson, D. J. (2019). Does handwriting the name of a potential trial participant on an invitation letter improve recruitment rates? A randomized controlled study within a trial. *F1000Research*, 8(659), 1–11.

https://doi.org/10.12688/f1000research.18939.1

- Mheen, H. V., Coumans, M., Barendregt, C., & van der Poel, A. (2006). A drug monitoring system: Keeping a finger on the pulse by triangulation of qualitative and quantitative methods. *Addiction Research & Theory*, *14*(5), 461–473. https://doi.org/10.1080/16066350600903310
- Miles, S. (2017). Stakeholder theory classification: A theoretical and empirical evaluation of definitions. *Journal of Business Ethics*, 142(3), 437–459.
 https://doi.org/10.1007/s10551-015-2741-y
- Mishra, S. (2019). Evolution of corporate social responsibility: Two sets of explanation. Social Responsibility Journal, 16(8), 1341–1356. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/srj-04-</u> 2019-0135
- Moon, M. D. (2019). Triangulation: A method to increase validity, reliability, and legitimation in clinical research. *Journal of Emergency Nursing*, 45(1), 103–105. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jen.2018.11.004</u>

Morse, J. M. (2015). Critical analysis of strategies for determining rigor in qualitative inquiry. *Qualitative Health Research*, 25(9), 1212–1222. https://doi.org/10.1177/1049732315588501

- Moser, A., & Korstjens, I. (2018). Series: Practical guidance to qualitative research. Part
 3: Sampling, data collection and analysis. *The European Journal of General Practice*, 24(1), 9–18. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/13814788.2017.1375091</u>
- Naidu, T., & Prose, N. (2018). Re-envisioning member checking and communicating results as accountability practice in qualitative research: A South African community-based organization example. *Forum: Qualitative Social Research*, 19(3), 783–797. <u>https://doi.org/10.17169/fqs-19.3.3153</u>
- Narayanan, S. (2022). Does generation Z value and reward corporate social responsibility practices? *Journal of Marketing Management*, *38*(9-10), 903–937. https://doi.org/10.1080/0267257X.2022.2070654
- Naseem, M. A., Lin, J., Rehman, R., Ahmad, M. I., & Ali, R. (2019). Moderating role of financial ratios in corporate social responsibility disclosure and firm value. *PLOS ONE*, 14(4), e0215430. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0215430</u>
- Nickerson, D., Lowe, M., Pattabhiramaiah, A., & Sorescu, A. (2022). The impact of corporate social responsibility on brand sales: An accountability perspective.
 Journal of Marketing, 86(2), 5–28. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/00222429211044155</u>
- Noble, H., & Smith, J. (2015). Issues of validity and reliability in qualitative research. *Evidence-Based Nursing*, 18(2), 34–35. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/eb-2015-102054</u>
- Nunan, D. (2020). Building and maintaining trust in research. *International Journal of Market Research*, 62(4), 393–395. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1470785320941425</u>

Olatunde, N. A., & Odeyinka, H. A. (2021). Factors influencing stakeholder management in building projects procured by private corporate organizations. *Journal of Engineering, Project & Production Management, 11*(1), 9–18. https://doi.org/10.2478/jeppm-2021-0002

Orbach, Y., Hershkowitz, I., Lamb, M. E., Sternberg, K. J., Esplin, P. W., & Horowitz, D. (2000). Assessing the value of structured protocols for forensic interviews of alleged child abuse victims. *Child Abuse & Neglect*, 24(6), 733–752. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/s0145-2134(00)00137-x</u>

- Overall, J. (2016). Unethical behavior in organizations: Empirical findings that challenge CSR and egoism theory. *Business Ethics: A European Review*, 25(2), 113–127. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/beer.12110</u>
- Palinkas, L. A., Horwitz, S. M., Green, C. A., Wisdom, J. P., Duan, N., & Hoagwood, K. (2015). Purposeful sampling for qualitative data collection and analysis in mixed-method implementation research. *Administration and Policy in Mental Health and Mental Health Services Research*, 42(5), 533–544. <u>http://doi.org/10.1007/s10488-013-0528-y</u>
- Pasko, O., Zhang, L., Tkal, Y., Hordiyenko, M., Popova, L., & Abraham, Y. (2021). Can CSR engagement and strong internal control enhance sustainable corporate growth? Evidence from Chinese Listed Companies. *Pakistan Journal of Commerce & Social Sciences, 15*(3), 497–521. https://www.econstor.eu

- Pattnaik, P. N., & Shukla, M. K. (2018). The evolution of CSR efforts at Steel Authority of India Limited. *Global Business & Organizational Excellence*, 37(3), 25–32. https://doi.org/10.1002/joe.21854
- Peng, L. S., & Isa, M. (2020). Environmental, social and governance (ESG) practices and performance in Shariah firms: Agency or stakeholder theory? *Asian Academy of Management Journal of Accounting and Finance, 16*(1), 1–34. https://doi.org/10.21315/aamjaf2020.16.1.1
- Perryman, K. L., Popejoy, E. K., & Conroy, J. (2020). A phenomenological study of teachers and mental health paraprofessionals implementing the Jesse Lewis choose love program. *Journal of School-Based Counseling Policy and Evaluation*, 2(2), 113–130. <u>https://doi.org/10.25774/9wpw-pq36</u>
- Pervaiz, A., Qasim, A., Qasim, Z., & Saeed, S. (2021). Exploring the college instructors' perception of their ability to teach the second language in Pakistan. *Ilkogretim Online*, 20(2), 669–680. <u>https://doi.org/10.17051/ilkonline.2021.02.74</u>
- Puyvelde, D. V. (2018). Qualitative research interviews and the study of national security intelligence. *International Studies Perspectives*, 19(4), 375–391.
 <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/isp/eky001</u>
- Ramaiah, T. S., Jee, K., & Tiwari, S. C. (2021). Stakeholders' perception of CSR practices: Evidence from Indian companies. *IUP Journal of Accounting Research* & Audit Practices, 20(4), 128–149. <u>https://iupindia.in</u>

- Rashid, A. (2021). Corporate social responsibility reporting: Meeting stakeholders' expectations or efficient allocation of resources? *International Journal of Accounting & Information Management*, 29(2), 280–304. https://doi.org/10.1108/ijaim-09-2020-0150
- Rasoulian, S., Grégoire, Y., Legoux, R., & Sénécal, S. (2017). Service crisis recovery and firm performance: Insights from information breach announcements. *Journal of the Academy of Marketing Science*, 45(6), 789–806. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11747-017-0543-8</u>
- Resnik, D. (2015). Bioethical issues in providing financial incentives to research participants. *Medicolegal and Bioethics*, 5, 35-41.
 <u>https://doi.org/10.2147/mb.s70416</u>
- Retolaza, J. L., Aguado, R., & Alcaniz, L. (2018). Stakeholder theory through the lenses of catholic social thought. *Journal of Business Ethics*, 157(4), 969–980. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10551-018-3963-6</u>
- Rew, D., Siguaw, J. A., & Sheng, X. (2020). Service productivity, satisfaction, and the impact on service firm performance. *Services Marketing Quarterly*, 41(4), 344– 357. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/15332969.2020.1830640</u>
- Rinawiyanti, E. D., Huang, X., & As-Saber, S. (2021). Adopting management control systems through CSR strategic integration and investigating its impact on company performance: evidence from Indonesia. *Corporate Governance: The*

International Journal of Effective Board Performance, 21(3), 463–478. https://doi.org/10.1108/CG-04-2020-0150

Rodriguez, K., & Hallas, D. (2020). Quadangulation: A new methodology combining ethnographic research and quality improvement projects in health science research. *Journal of Pediatric Health Care*, 34(3), 273–278.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pedhc.2019.12.006

- Rose, J., Flak, L. S., & Sæbø, Ø. (2018). Stakeholder theory for the e-government context: Framing a value-oriented normative core. *Government Information Quarterly*, 35(3), 362–374. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.giq.2018.06.005</u>
- Rosenthal, M. (2016). Qualitative research methods: Why, when, and how to conduct interviews and focus groups in pharmacy research. *Currents in Pharmacy Teaching and Learning*, 8(4), 509–516. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cptl.2016.03.021</u>
- Sahin, M. D., & Öztürk, G. (2019). Mixed-method research: Theoretical foundations, designs and its use in educational research. *International Journal of Contemporary Educational Research*, 6(2), 301–310. https://doi.org/10.33200/ijcer.574002
- Saleem, F., Zafar, L., Khan, M. T., Khan, Z., Jamil, S., & Ataulla, C. (2021). Factors effecting corporate cash holdings of the listed non-financial firms in Pakistan. *Ilkogretim Online*, 20(3), 1765–1775.

https://doi.org/10.17051/ilkonline.2021.03.205

Salem, M. A., Shawtari, F., Shamsudin, M. F., & Hussain, H. B. I. (2018). The consequences of integrating stakeholder engagement in sustainable development.

Sustainable Development, 26(3), 255–268. https://doi.org/10.1002/sd.1699

- Schaeffer, N. C. (2021). Interaction before and during the survey interview: Insights from conversation analysis. *International Journal of Social Research Methodology*, 24(2), 181–202. https://doi.org/10.1080/13645579.2020.1824626
- Schaltegger, S., Hörisch, J., & Freeman, R. E. (2019). Business cases for sustainability: A stakeholder theory perspective. *Organization & Environment*, 32(3), 191–212. https://doi.org/10.1177/1086026617722882
- Schoukroun-Barnes, L. R., Duchars, P., Bartolowits, M., & Sarno, K. (2019). What does return on investment (ROI) mean to the pharmaceutical/biotechnology industry? *Theoretical Issues in Ergonomics Science*, 20(1), 39–50. https://doi.org/10.1080/1463922x.2018.1485986
- Shea, C. T., & Hawn, O. V. (2019). Microfoundations of corporate social responsibility and irresponsibility. *Academy of Management Journal*, 62(5), 1609–1642. https://doi.org/10.5465/amj.2014.0795
- Sigel, A. (2021). CSR statements: Incentives and enforcement in the wake of the business roundtable's statement on corporate purpose. *Boston University Law Review*, 101(2), 803–833.

- Sinthupundaja, J., Chiadamrong, N., & Kohda, Y. (2019). Internal capabilities, external cooperation, and proactive CSR on financial performance. *Service Industries Journal*, 39(15-16), 1099–1122. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/02642069.2018.1508459</u>
- Snoeijers, E. M., & Poels, K. (2018). Factors that influence organizational crisis perception from an internal stakeholder's point of view. *Public Relations Review*, 44(1), 65–74. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pubrev.2017.12.003</u>
- Soin, M. (2018). Philosophical difficulties of stakeholder theory. *Annales.Ethics in Economic Life*, 21(7), 75–84. <u>https://doi.org/10.18778/1899-2226.21.7.05</u>
- Song, B., & Ferguson, M. A. (2021). The importance of congruence between stakeholder prosocial motivation and CSR attributions: effects on stakeholders' donations and sense-making of prosocial identities. *Journal of Marketing Communications*, 1– 19. https://doi.org/10.1080/13527266.2021.2021971
- Spiers, J., Morse, J. M., Olson, K., Mayan, M., & Barrett, M. (2018). Reflection commentary on a past article: "Verification strategies for establishing reliability and validity in qualitative research." *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, 17(1), 1–2. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1609406918788237</u>
- Srivastava, G. (2019). Impact of CSR on company's reputation and brand image. Global Journal of Enterprise Information System, 7(10), 8–13. https://doi.org/10.18311/gjeis/2019

- Stewart, H., Gapp, R., & Harwood, I. (2017). Exploring the alchemy of qualitative management research: Seeking trustworthiness, credibility, and rigor through crystallization. *The Qualitative Report*, 22(1), 1–19. <u>https://nsuworks.nova.edu</u>
- Stratmann, K., Bock, H., Filmann, N., Fister, P., Weber, C., Tacke, W., & Blumenstein, I. (2018). Individual invitation letters lead to significant increase in attendance for screening colonoscopies: Results of a pilot study in Northern Hesse, Germany. *United European Gastroenterology Journal*, 6(7), 1082–1088. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/2050640618769713</u>
- Strijker, D., Bosworth, G., & Bouter, G. (2020). Research methods in rural studies:
 Qualitative, quantitative, and mixed-methods. *Journal of Rural Studies*, 78, 262–270. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jrurstud.2020.06.007</u>
- Sulkowski, A. J., Edwards, M., & Freeman, R. E. (2017). Shake your stakeholder: Firms leading engagement to cocreate sustainable value. *Organization & Environment*, 31(3), 223–241. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1086026617722129</u>
- Sun, W., Zhao, C., & Cho, C. H. (2019). Institutional transitions and the role of financial performance in CSR reporting. *Corporate Social Responsibility and Environmental Management, 26*(2), 367–376. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/csr.1688</u>
- Suri, H. (2011). Purposeful sampling in qualitative research synthesis. *Qualitative Research Journal (RMIT Training Pty Ltd Trading as RMIT Publishing), 11*(2), 63–75. <u>https://doi.org/10.3316/QRJ1102063</u>

- Surmiak, A. (2018). Confidentiality in qualitative research involving vulnerable participants: Researchers' perspectives. *Forum: Qualitative Social Research*, 19(3), 393–418. https://doi.org/10.17169/fqs-19.3.3099
- Tang, Z., & Tang, J. (2018). Stakeholder corporate social responsibility orientation congruence, entrepreneurial orientation, and environmental performance of Chinese small and medium-sized enterprises. *British Journal of Management*, 29(4), 634–651. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/1467-8551.12255</u>
- Testa, F., Boiral, O., & Heras-Saizarbitoria, I. (2018). Improving CSR performance by hard and soft means: The role of organizational citizenship behaviors and the internalization of CSR standards. *Corporate Social Responsibility and Environmental Management, 25*(5), 853–865. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/csr.1502</u>
- Theofanidis, D., & Fountouki, A. (2018). Limitations and delimitations in the research process. *Perioperative Nursing*, 7(3), 155–163.

https://doi.org/10.5281/zenodo.2552022

- Tworzydło, D., Gawroński, S., & Szuba, P. (2021). Importance and role of CSR and stakeholder engagement strategy in polish companies in the context of activities of experts handling public relations. *Corporate Social Responsibility & Environmental Management*, 28(1), 64–70. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/csr.2032</u>
- U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. (1979). *The Belmont Report: Ethical principles and guidelines for the protection of human subjects of research*. The

National Commission for the Protection of Human Subjects of Biomedical and Behavioral Research. <u>https://www.hhs.gov</u>

- Valentinov, V., Roth, S., & Will, M. G. (2019). Stakeholder theory: A Luhmannian perspective. Administration & Society, 51(5), 826–849. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0095399718789076</u>
- Van den Boer, M., Georgiou, G. K., & de Jong, P. F. (2016). Naming of short words is (almost) the same as naming of alphanumeric symbols: Evidence from two orthographies. *Journal of Experimental Child Psychology*, 144, 152–165. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jecp.2015.11.016</u>
- Van Rooijen, M., Lenzen, S., Dalemans, R., Beurskens, A., & Moser, A. (2021).
 Stakeholder engagement from problem analysis to implementation strategies for a patient-reported experience measure in disability care: A qualitative study on the process and experiences. *Health Expectations*, 24(1), 53–65.

https://doi.org/10.1111/hex.13147

Varpio, L., Ajjawi, R., Monrouxe, L. V., O'Brien, B. C., & Rees, C. E. (2017). Shedding the cobra effect: Problematising thematic emergence, triangulation, saturation, and member checking. *Medical Education*, 51(1), 40–50.

https://doi.org/10.1111/medu

Vieira Jr., E. T., Yulong Li, & Scotina, A. (2022). Global automakers. CSR reporting and targeted stakeholders 2018-2020. Symphonya: Emerging issues in management, 1, 92–119. <u>https://doi.org/10.4468/2022.1.09vieira.li.scotina</u>

- Vitolla, F., Raimo, N., Rubino, M., & Garzoni, A. (2019). The impact of national culture on integrated reporting quality: A stakeholder theory approach. *Business Strategy* and the Environment, 28(8), 1558–1571. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/bse.2332</u>
- Vuban, J. A., & Eta, E. A. (2018). Negotiating access to research sites and participants within an African context: The case of Cameroon. *Research Ethics*, 15(1), 1–23. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1747016118798874</u>
- Wang, Y., Song, J., Mitchell, B., Lee, S. Y., & Chai, S. (2022). Engaging Individuals in CSR Activities. *E-Service Journal*, 13(3), 1–29. https://doi.org/10.2979/eservicej.13.3.01
- Wang, Z., Hsieh, T.-S., & Sarkis, J. (2018). CSR performance and the readability of CSR report: Too good to be true? *Corporate Social Responsibility and Environmental Management*, 25(1), 66–79. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/csr.1440</u>
- Weissinger, G. M., & Ulrich, C. M. (2019). Informed consent and ethical reporting of research in clinical trials involving participants with psychotic disorders. *Contemporary Clinical Trials*, 84, 1–7. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cct.2019.06.009
- Weitzner, D., & Deutsch, Y. (2019). Why the time has come to retire instrumental stakeholder theory. Academy of Management Review, 44(3), 694–698. https://doi.org/10.5465/amr.2018.0342
- Williams, M., & Moser, T. (2019). The art of coding and thematic exploration in qualitative research. *International Management Review*, 15(1), 45–55. <u>http://www.imrjournal.org</u>

- Yeong, M. L., Ismail, R., Ismail, N. H., & Hamzah, M. I. (2018). Interview protocol refinement: Fine-tuning qualitative research interview questions for multi-racial populations in Malaysia. *The Qualitative Report*, 23(11), 2700–2713. https://doi.org/10.46743/2160-37.15/2018.3412
- Yim, S., Bae, Y. H., Lim, H., & Kwon, J. (2019). The role of marketing capability in linking CSR to corporate financial performance. *European Journal of Marketing*, 53(7), 1333–1354. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/ejm-08-2017-0526</u>

Yin, R. K. (2018). Qualitative research from start to finish. Guilford Publications.

- Yoon, B., & Chung, Y. (2018). The effects of corporate social responsibility on firm performance: A stakeholder approach. *Journal of Hospitality and Tourism Management*, 37, 89–96. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhtm.2018.10.005</u>
- Zakhem, A., & Palmer, D. E. (2017). Normative stakeholder theory. *Business and Society* 360(1), 49–73. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/s2514-175920170000003</u>
- Zanfardini, M., Aguirre, P., & Tamagni, L. (2015). The evolution of CSR's research in tourism context: A review from 1992 to 2012. *Anatolia*, 27(1), 38–46. https://doi.org/10.1080/13032917.2015.1083207
- Zupanic, M., Schulze-Rohr, J., Nitsche, J., Ostermann, T., Hofmann, M., & Ehlers, J. P. (2020). Selection procedure human medicine and psychology at the University of Witten/Herdecke: Adaptation to the virtual zoom room. *GMS Journal for Medical Education*, 37(7), 1–8. <u>https://doi.org/10.3205/zma001363</u>

Zyphur, M. J., & Pierides, D. C. (2020). Making quantitative research work: From positivist dogma to actual social scientific inquiry. *Journal of Business Ethics*, 167(1), 49–62. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10551-019-04189-6</u>

What to do	What to say
Introduction of the interview	My name is Franklin De La Rosa, and I am
	a doctorate student at Walden University. I
	want to thank you for having me research
	your organization. The purpose of my
	research study is to explore strategies some
	commercial banking, loan, and savings
	association leaders, and insurance leaders
	use to implement a successful CSR
	program to improve profitability. My goal
	in this interview meeting is to answer the
	interview question, so I will be asking eight
	interview questions to accomplish this
	purpose.
Explain the informed consent	You placed "I consent" via email which
	will be containing information about the
	study and the right to withdraw at any time
	during the interview without any
	punishment.

Appendix A: Interview Protocol

T
I want to remind you that your participation
is voluntary. There is no monetary
compensation to participate in this study.
I will encourage to ask me any questions
before and after the interview to clarify any
doubts
To ensure confidentiality, I will use an
alphanumeric code instead of your name
and company during the research process.
The data collected will be used for research
purposes only. After five years of research
publication, I will destroy the data
collected. The interview will range between
20 to 30 minute through Zoom platform or
phone.
Before I begin the recording, I will suggest
participants looking for a quiet area where
you can feel comfortable and safe to start
the interview.
Today, I will record the interview, and I

	will be taking notes for data accuracy. May
	I proceed with the recording?
Start the recording, introduce the	On the [interview date], the interview will
participant code, date, time, and interview	be taking place at [interview format] with
format.	participant [code].
Begin with the interview questions.	Interview questions
Ask follow-up questions as necessary.	1. What strategies have you used to
	implement a successful CSR program to
	improve profitability?
	2. How did you address the challenges in
	implementing your strategies for a
	successful CSR program to improve
	profitability?
	3. What modifications did you apply to any
	strategy to improve its effectiveness in
	stimulating innovation?
	4. What were the key barriers to
	implementing your successful CSR
	program strategies to improve profitability?
	5. How did you overcome the key barriers

to implementing strategies to integrate
innovation into your business practice?
6. How did you measure the effectiveness
of your strategies for a successful CSR
program to improve profitability?
7. How has your organization used its CSR
program strategies to improve profitability?
8.What additional information would you
like to add regarding the strategies used to
implement a successful CSR program to
improve profitability?
We finish the interview; thank you for your
participation.
According to the consent form, I will email
you the transcribed interview and my
interpretation of your responses as soon as
possible. I would like you to member check
for data accuracy, and if any information

you want me to take away or add, I would
be glad for you to email me your feedback.